
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ
www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

You are summoned to attend a meeting of 
the Council

on Wednesday, 28 March 2018, at 6.30 p.m.
in the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, 

Kendal
Please note that a Freedom of Information, Data Protection 
and Governance Briefing for Councillors will be held from 
5.00 p.m. to 6.15 p.m. in the District Council Chamber.
For those who wish to attend, Prayers will be said in the 
District Council Chamber at 6.20 p.m.

Membership

Councillors

Caroline Airey
James Airey
Giles Archibald
Rupert Audland
Ben Berry
Roger Bingham
Norman Bishop-Rowe
Jonathan Brook
Andrew Butcher
John Clough
Stephen Coleman (Vice-Chairman)
Stan Collins
Brian Cooper
Nick Cotton
Joss Curwen
Philip Dixon
Sheila Eccles

Sylvia Emmott
David Evans
Shirley Evans
Clare Feeney-Johnson
Alvin Finch
David Fletcher
Gill Gardner
Brenda Gray
Anne Hall
Tom Harvey
Chris Hogg
John Holmes
Vicky Hughes
Helen Irving
Andrew Jarvis
Janette Jenkinson
Dyan Jones

Kevin Lancaster
Mel Mackie
Pete McSweeney
Eric Morrell (Chairman)
Annie Rawlinson
Vivienne Rees
Amanda Rigg
Sue Sanderson
Matt Severn
Ian Stewart
Peter Thornton
Graham Vincent
Phil Walker
David Williams
Mark Wilson
Mary Wilson
Vacancy

Monday, 19 March 2018

Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)

For all enquiries, please contact:- 
Committee Administrator: Inge Booth
Telephone: 01539 793190
e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


Roll Call : Apologies

AGENDA
Page Nos.

PART I 

1 MINUTES 5 - 24

To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Council held on 27 February 2018 (copy attached).

2 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so before 
the commencement of the meeting.  Information on how to make the application 
can be obtained by viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or 
by contacting the Committee Services Team on 01539 733333.

(1) Questions and Representations

To receive any questions or representations which have been received 
from members of the public.

(2) Deputations and Petitions

To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from 
members of the public.

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.)

Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests.

If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.

4 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 

To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public.

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive announcements by the Chairman.

6 SOUTH CUMBRIA COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP PLAN 2018/19 
(BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK DECISION) 

25 - 32

To consider the South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19.

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


7 REQUEST BY ALLITHWAITE UPPER PARISH COUNCIL TO CHANGE THE 
PARISH NAME TO LINDALE AND NEWTON IN CARTMEL PARISH 

33 - 40

To consider a request by Allithwaite Upper Parish Council to change the parish 
name to Lindale and Newton in Cartmel Parish.

8 TEMPORARY APPOINTMENT TO BROUGHTON EAST PARISH COUNCIL 41 - 46

To note the temporary appointment of a District Councillor to Broughton East 
Parish Council to enable it to remain quorate pending further election/co-option 
to the Parish Council.

9 ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CALL-IN AND URGENCY PROVISIONS 47 - 50

To consider the findings of the 2017/18 annual review of the operation of the 
Constitution’s call-in and urgency provisions.

10 ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CONSTITUTION 51 - 80

To consider suggested changes to the Constitution and the Council’s public 
participation and petitions schemes as part of the annual review process.

11 COMPOSITE REPORT OF THE CABINET 81 - 112

(1) To receive the Executive Reports from the Leader and Cabinet 
Members.

(2) To deal with any questions by Members to the appropriate Cabinet 
Members on the content of the reports.

12 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND CABINET QUESTION TIME (30 
MINUTES) 
To receive announcements from the Leader and, in accordance with 
Paragraphs 10.2 and 10.3 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure, to deal with any 
questions to the Leader and/or Portfolio Holders on any topic which is within the 
jurisdiction or influence of the Council and is relevant to their Portfolio.  Any 
Member who poses a question will be entitled to ask one supplementary 
question on the same topic.

Members are encouraged to give 24 hours’ written notice of questions to the 
Solicitor to the Council.  If no notice is received, then the Portfolio Holder can 
reserve the right to give a written answer.  Where written notice of questions has 
been given, these will be taken first.  Should a Member wish to ask more than 
one question, questions should be listed in order of priority.  If more than one 
Member sends in a question, these will be taken in alphabetical order of 
Members’ names, alternated from meeting to meeting.  Each question and each 
response is restricted to three minutes.

13 MINUTES OF MEETINGS 

To receive Chairmen’s comments (if any notified) in respect of the minutes of 
the Committee meetings held between 29 January and 9 March 2018.

14 QUESTIONS TO CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL OR CHAIRMAN OF ANY 
COMMITTEE OR SUB-COMMITTEE 
To deal with any questions under Rule 10.6 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure, 
of which due notice has been given and/or the Chairman allows as a matter of 
urgent business and which are in relation to any matter over which the Council 
has powers or duties or which affect the area.



15 NOTICE OF MOTION 

The following Notice of Motion has been given in accordance with Paragraph 
11.1 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure:-

"This council is deeply concerned about the number of second homes in our 
district.  This is having a devastating impact on some of our communities and 
restricts the opportunity of young people in our community to get on the housing 
ladder.  We note:

 The recent proposals from the Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority to 
significantly increase Council Tax on second homes.

 The debate around considering extending the definition of 'empty homes' 
eligible for Council Tax premium to include those that are uninhabited.

 Owners of second homes that register for business rates and then claim 
Small Business Rate Relief may make no financial contribution to their 
community.

 In Wales, second homes need to be let for at least 70 days a year to 
register for business rates.

Therefore, this Council calls for changes to legislation to:

 Extend the empty homes council tax premium of 100% to include homes 
uninhabited for more than 2 years.

 Require second homes to be actually let for 70 days per year to register 
for business rates.

 Allow councils to implement an additional charge on second homes, 
relating to the housing needs of the area.  The income from such 
charges being used to support the affected communities.

 Permit planning authorities to treat the change of use of property from 
permanent residential to either second-home or holiday let as being a 
material change of use and, therefore, requiring appropriate planning 
permission."

(signed by Councillor Andrew Jarvis)

PART II 

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)
There are no items in this part of the agenda.



51
27.02.2018 Council

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Council held in the District Council 
Chamber, South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Tuesday, 27 February 2018, at 6.30 p.m.

Present

Councillors

Eric Morrell (Chairman)
Stephen Coleman (Vice-Chairman)

Caroline Airey
James Airey
Giles Archibald
Rupert Audland
Ben Berry
Roger Bingham
Norman Bishop-Rowe
John Clough
Stan Collins
Brian Cooper
Nick Cotton
Joss Curwen
Philip Dixon

Sheila Eccles
Sylvia Emmott
David Evans
Shirley Evans
Alvin Finch
Brenda Gray
Anne Hall
Tom Harvey
John Holmes
Vicky Hughes
Andrew Jarvis
Janette Jenkinson
Dyan Jones

Kevin Lancaster
Mel Mackie
Pete McSweeney
Annie Rawlinson
Vivienne Rees
Amanda Rigg
Sue Sanderson
Matt Severn
Ian Stewart
Peter Thornton
Graham Vincent
Mark Wilson
Mary Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jonathan Brook, 
Andrew Butcher, Clare Feeney-Johnson, David Fletcher, Gill Gardner, Chris Hogg, 
Helen Irving, Phil Walker and David Williams.

Officers

Lawrence Conway Chief Executive
Michael Fisher Revenues and Benefits Services Manager
Claire Gould Partnerships and Organisational Development Manager
Jason Habbershon Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer
Peter Holland Senior Communications Officer
Anthea Lowe Solicitor to the Council
Shelagh McGregor Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer)
Dan Millican Solicitor
Helen Smith Financial Services Manager
Debbie Storr Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)
David Sykes Director People and Places

C/75 MINUTES 

RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the 
minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 19 December 2017.

Page 5

Item No.1



52
27.02.2018 Council

C/76 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Councillor Lynne Oldham, Kendal Town Councillor for Mintsfeet ward, addressed 
Council in support of the proposal for £50k to be allocated for disabled toilet 
improvements within the 2018/19 Budget (Minute No. C/82 below refers). She had 
worked with children and adults with a variety of disabilities for 20 years and explained 
that the Changing Places campaign sought to fulfil the goal of inclusive communities by 
developing facilities for those who were unable to use standard accessible toilets. 
Councillor Oldham reported that the number of people who required these additional 
facilities was increasing, and that a more positive attitude was needed to ensure wider 
inclusion.

Mary Edwards spoke in support of the proposed motion for the Council to become 
single-use plastic free (Minute No. C/80 below refers). She explained that seas and 
watercourses across the world were becoming steadily more polluted by plastics, and 
highlighted that the Ellen MacArthur Foundation had predicted that, by weight, there 
would be more plastic than fish within the seas by 2050. The major cause of this 
pollution was single-use plastic packaging, particularly packaging for food and drink, 
and recycling could not provide an entire solution. Ms Edwards acknowledged that 
plastic was extremely useful, but emphasised that if we were to break free from 
pollution there was a need to use alternatives to single-use plastics. She felt that 
society had grown accustomed to single-use plastic in the past, but that the BBC’s 
recent Blue Planet II documentary had drawn attention to these issues. Ms Edwards 
concluded by stating that it would be a huge step forward for the Council to commit to 
pledge its support in this way and by encouraging others to do the same.

Sian Bentley also spoke in support of the proposed single-use plastic free motion. She 
echoed the previous comments regarding the awareness brought about by Blue Planet 
II, and highlighted both the local support for action as well as the support for national 
charities such as Surfers Against Sewage. Other councils had become plastic free, 
including Aberporth in West Wales, and these organisations had used their influence 
within the local community by encouraging businesses within their areas to champion 
alternatives. Ms Bentley reported that in 1950, a global population of 2.5 billion people 
had produced less than 2 million tons of plastic, yet the current population of 7.5 billion 
people had produced 320 million tons. She highlighted the impact of the resulting 
pollution on beaches, with notable offenders being plastic bottles and disposable coffee 
cups. She reported that, in an effort to address this, the Environmental Audit 
Committee had proposed a “latte levy” of 25p per cup on disposable coffee cups. She 
concluded by stating that France had proposed to ban all plastic cutlery, while China 
had pledged to take no more of Britain’s plastic waste.

Note – Councillor Ben Berry, seconded by Councillor Giles Archibald, proposed 
that Agenda Item No. 16 (Notices of Motion) be brought forward for consideration 
as the first substantive item of business. The motion was carried.

C/77 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised.

C/78 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda.

Page 6



53
27.02.2018 Council

C/79 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

A list of engagements which the Chairman had attended since the last meeting had 
been circulated to Members.

C/80 NOTICES OF MOTION 

In accordance with Paragraph 11.1 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure, the following 
notice of motion had been put to Council by Councillors Giles Archibald and 
David Fletcher:-

“This council will become a single use plastic free council by phasing out the use of 
single use plastic products such as bottles, cups, cutlery and drinking straws in council 
activities, where it is reasonable to do so, by the end of 2018 and to encourage our 
facilities’ users, local businesses and other local public agencies to do the same by 
championing alternatives, such as reusable water bottles.”

Councillor Archibald introduced the motion and thanked the members of the public who 
had spoken in favour of the motion. He described councils as being more than a 
service-provider, but as organisations which needed to provide leadership to their 
communities. He stated that climate change was an issue of concern for all, and that 
the increasing use of plastics poisoning oceans was a critical issue. Other authorities 
and countries had committed to becoming single-use plastic free, and this was 
something that this authority should do. Councillor Archibald accepted that no one had 
all the answers, but he was convinced that the Council needed to do everything it could 
and he had asked officers to report back to Members on a regular basis on the 
progress being made.

Councillor Ben Berry seconded the motion.

A number of councillors spoke in favour of the proposal, recognising that the target to 
end single-use plastics by the end of the year was ambitious but achievable. Similar 
campaigns by businesses, local schools and town and parish councils were 
highlighted. The importance of the Council encouraging local businesses and partners 
was recognised, and Members were urged to take this concept forward and further 
develop in the future.

The hidden dangers of pollution were highlighted, including the impact from the 
hormones used in plastic production which affected the development of all animal life in 
the sea and further up the food chain. Councillor Collins emphasised the vital 
importance of bringing to an end the “just throw it away” culture.

Councillor Ian Stewart requested that the Council look into the way it dealt with tetrapak 
carton disposal as another method of reducing plastic waste. He also suggested that 
the Morecambe Bay Partnership could be encouraged to organise a litter pick for 
Members of the Council to highlight the issues that plastic pollution causes and 
undertook to speak with the relevant individuals.

Following a vote, this motion was unanimously supported.

RESOLVED – That this Council will become a single use plastic free council by 
phasing out the use of single use plastic products such as bottles, cups, cutlery and 
drinking straws in council activities, where it is reasonable to do so, by the end of 2018 

Page 7



54
27.02.2018 Council

and to encourage our facilities’ users, local businesses and other local public agencies 
to do the same by championing alternatives, such as reusable water bottles.

In accordance with Paragraph 11.1 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure, the following 
notice of motion had been put to Council by Councillor Matt Severn:-

“This Council:
-believes that it is wrong that residents of South Lakeland living with cancer have to 
make exhausting round trips of up to three hours to receive vital radiotherapy
-supports the campaign led by Tim Farron MP to bring a satellite radiotherapy unit to 
Westmorland General Hospital to complement the excellent new chemotherapy ward
-notes that the former Liberal Democrat Chief Secretary to the Treasury, Danny 
Alexander, agreed to Tim Farron’s request to provide £12 million capital funding for a 
radiotherapy unit at Westmorland General Hospital in early 2015
- condemns the Conservative Government for withdrawing that funding in 2015
-calls for a satellite radiotherapy unit to be established as an urgent priority”

Councillor Matt Severn in moving the motion, and Councillor Andrew Jarvis in 
seconding the motion, relayed their personal experiences of cancer within their families 
and the impact of the current need to travel long distances for treatment. It was 
reported that NHS England was looking at developing a new network of radiotherapy 
centres and would consider those areas with a clear local support and need for such a 
centre. This provided the Council with a timely opportunity to support this motion.

Councillor James Airey welcomed the raising of the issue but felt that unanimous 
support behind a non-political statement would be more powerful. He proposed an 
amendment to the wording to enable this and was seconded by Councillor Ben Berry.

Note – Having been proposed by Councillor Ian Stewart and seconded by 
Councillor Annie Rawlinson, Council voted to adjourn the meeting at 7.30 p.m. 
and reconvened at 7.45 p.m.

Following discussion, both the proposer of the initial motion, Councillor Matt Severn, 
and its seconder, Councillor Andrew Jarvis, accepted the amended wording proposed 
by Councillor James Airey.

Councillor Peter Thornton explained that he sat on the Sustainable Transformation 
Plan board for Lancashire and South Cumbria, where South Lakeland and Barrow 
made up just 8% of the area covered. He stated that hard work was needed to ensure 
that resources were allocated to South Lakeland, and explained that although it had 
been confirmed that the three Morecambe Bay NHS Trust hospitals would continue, 
the area was underfunded resulting in a huge financial deficit. Councillor Thornton 
encouraged Members on all sides to work together to help make the motion a reality.

Following a vote, this motion, as amended, was supported unanimously.

RESOLVED – That this Council:-
-believes that it is wrong that residents of South Lakeland living with cancer have to 
make exhausting round trips of up to three hours to receive vital radiotherapy
-supports efforts by practitioners, the Health Trust and politicians of all persuasions, to 
bring a satellite radiotherapy unit to Westmorland General Hospital to complement the 
excellent new chemotherapy ward
-calls for a satellite radiotherapy unit to be established as an urgent priority.

Page 8



55
27.02.2018 Council

C/81 CORPORATE FINANCIAL MONITORING QUARTER-3, 2017/18 

Councillor Giles Archibald, Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder, presented the third 
quarter financial monitoring report of 2017/18, which provided details on the financial 
position of the Council at 31 December 2017 and the projected year end position based 
on performance to that date. He explained that the report had previously been 
discussed by Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and thanked the 
latters’ Chairman, Councillor Dyan Jones, and the rest of the Committee for their 
ongoing work in scrutinising the financial performance of the Council.

Councillor Archibald expressed his view that an expected outturn of less than half a 
percent against gross expenditure was an impressive reflection of how well the budget 
was managed. He congratulated officers for being able to budget employee costs so 
accurately and highlighted the income surpluses which were expected through Building 
Control, Public Halls and MintWorks. He confirmed that these surpluses were expected 
to continue and, as such, had been worked into future years’ budgets.

The Leader explained that they key area of pressure for the Council was in respect of 
homelessness. He expressed his sadness at the increase in homelessness nationwide 
and explained that South Lakeland was not unaffected, which had caused a strain on 
the service’s budget. He complemented the work of Neighbourhood Services for 
achieving the kerbside recycling target in difficult times and asked the Chief Executive 
to take back to staff the Council’s gratitude.

The Leader drew attention to the Treasury Management update and to the Capital 
Programme and the key projects that were taking place.

In response to a query, the Revenues and Benefits Manager confirmed that the delays 
in Non Domestic Rates collection had not resulted from the closure of Kendal 
Magistrates’ Court, but from the Council’s IT systems change. He explained that a very 
small number of cases had been impacted by this.

Councillor Norman Bishop-Rowe complimented the work done to Brogden Street 
premises in Ulverston but questioned the value of the project. Councillor Giles 
Archibald undertook to provide a written response. 

Councillor Bishop-Rowe also questioned the use of rooms other than the District 
Council Chamber within Kendal Town Hall for meetings when they lacked microphone 
and other facilities. Councillor Archibald confirmed that these comments had been 
taken on board.

Councillor Graham Vincent referred to the Leader’s comments on the success of 
MintWorks and drew attention to the surplus income from car parking, explaining that 
both reflected an expanding economy. South Lakeland was the biggest economy in 
Cumbria having overtaken Carlisle, and the Council was looking to partner with 
neighbouring authorities such as Barrow and Lancaster to help to continue to develop 
the area. Although the tourism industry could face challenges from Brexit, Councillor 
Vincent highlighted the continuing strength of the area’s manufacturing industry.

Councillor Matt Severn welcomed the success of MintWorks and complimented 
proposals to use this additional income to help support the Council’s Housing Options 
Team.

Page 9



56
27.02.2018 Council

Having been proposed by Councillor Giles Archibald, and seconded by Councillor 
Matt Severn, it was

RESOLVED – That the following be noted:-

(1) the contents of the report; and

(2) the proposed revisions to the Capital Programme, included in the Budget 
Report.

C/82 2018/19 TO 2022/23 BUDGET (BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK DECISION) 

The Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder, Councillor Giles Archibald, presented the 
draft budget proposals for 2018/19 onwards, including fees and charges, the Capital 
Programme and the Chief Finance Officer’s Advice on the Robustness of Estimates 
and the Adequacy of Reserves. The proposals set out a balanced revenue budget for 
2018/19 of £12,931,100, including a £5 (2.7%) increase in the Band D Council Tax for 
District Council services which was equal to the expected increase in wage rates for 
the year. South Lakeland would have the second lowest Band D Council Tax within 
Cumbria behind Allerdale.

The draft budgets had been considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
12 January 2018 and the Leader thanked the Committee for its useful suggestions. 
Further reports had also been considered by the Lake Administration Committee, 
Licensing Committee and Planning Committee. At its meeting on 7 February 2018, 
Cabinet recommended the draft budget to Council for approval.

In proposing the recommendations Councillor Archibald highlighted the challenges 
facing the Authority and the sacrifices that needed to be made to continue to manage 
future deficits as the authority had done in the past. He referred to a number of projects 
including the work in providing disabled toilet facilities and thanked Kendal Town 
Councillor Lynne Oldham for her contribution earlier in the meeting, as well as the 
advocacy work of Councillor Dyan Jones and Cumbria County Councillor Will Clark. 
Councillor Archibald confirmed that thanks to co-operative work between this Council 
and Cumbria County Council, a policy was being drafted for council tax exemption to 
be offered to care leavers and thanked Councillors Shirley Evans and Ian Stewart for 
their work in this.

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Graham Vincent.

Councillor Ian Stewart suggested that the uncertainties in Government support would 
increase in the coming years, and described the negative Revenue Support Grant as a 
particular area of concern for this authority. He asked the Leader of the Council and the 
Leader of the Conservative Group to join together and write to the Secretary of State 
asking that he removes this iniquitous concept of the Council paying the Government 
rather than receiving a Revenue Support Grant.

The Shadow Finance Portfolio Holder, Councillor Kevin Lancaster, stated that although 
no opposition budget had been presented this should not be taken as acceptance of 
the Budget proposed by the majority group. Councillor Lancaster questioned the 
proposed Council Tax increase, and suggested that many aspects of the opposition’s 
budget last year had been incorporated into the proposed Budget despite the majority 
group’s opposition to the suggestions at the time. He explained that his colleagues 
continued to oppose the production of South Lakeland News, but described the cost of 

Page 10



57
27.02.2018 Council

this as being dwarfed by the additional costs of the new electoral arrangements. The 
Conservative Group pledged to move to a whole council electoral cycle at the earliest 
possible date and Councillor Lancaster felt that the Council’s partnership working had 
not gone far enough. He described the Council’s principle income from car parking as 
volatile, and felt that the refusal to implement a permit system had been a key reason 
for this. Changes to the car parking arrangements resulting from the closure of New 
Road to vehicles had increased unfairness across the District. He concluded by stating 
that Eden District Council had proposed a 0% increase in Council Tax, something that 
the Conservative Group would have proposed for South Lakeland.

Councillor Andrew Jarvis responded, explaining that despite being having been £7 
lower six years ago, the District Council aspect of Band D Council Tax within Eden was 
now £15 higher than in South Lakeland.

Councillor Ben Berry suggested that the Council’s priority should be finding greater 
savings rather than putting up Council Tax rates for residents.

The strength of the District’s economy was highlighted by the Economy and Assets 
Portfolio Holder, Councillor Graham Vincent, who suggested that the proposed Budget 
would allow the Council to face future years in a strong position, enthusiastically and 
with the capability to push forward in the area.

In concluding, Councillor Giles Archibald described the suggestion that Council Tax 
should not be raised as irresponsible given the difficulties in front of the Council. In 
response to Councillor Kevin Lancaster, Councillor Archibald referred to the ways in 
which the Council had improved co-operative working with the County Council over 
recent years. 

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 and the Council’s Rules of Procedure, a recorded vote was taken on 
the recommendations as follows:–

The following Members voted in favour (27):- Councillors Archibald, Audland, Clough, 
Coleman, Collins, Cotton, Curwen, Dixon, Eccles, Emmott, David Evans, Shirley 
Evans, Finch, Gray, Hughes, Jarvis, Jones, McSweeney, Morrell, Rawlinson, Rees, 
Sanderson, Severn, Stewart, Thornton, Vincent and Mark Wilson.

The following Members voted against (12):- Councillors James Airey, Berry, Bingham, 
Bishop-Rowe, Cooper, Hall, Harvey, Holmes, Jenkinson, Lancaster, Mackie and Rigg.

No Members abstained.

RESOLVED – That

(1) the Net Revenue Budget for 2018/19 of £12,931,100, as set out in Section 2 of 
the Draft Budget Book (Appendix 1 to the report) be adopted;

(2) the £5 (2.7%) increase in the Band D Council tax for District Council Services 
for 2018/19 be approved as part of a balanced revenue budget;

(3) the detailed service budgets as set out in Section 3 of the Draft Budget Book be 
approved;

(4) the latest Collection Fund Estimates, Parish Council precepts and Parish 
Council taxes for 2018/19, as set out in Section 4 of the Draft Budget Book, be noted;

Page 11



58
27.02.2018 Council

(5) the Capital Programme, as set out in Section 5 of the Draft Budget Book, be 
approved;

(6) the Reserves, as set out in Section 6 of the Draft Budget Book, be approved;

(7) the Fees and Charges Book for 2018/19, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report, 
be approved;

(8) the Chief Finance Officer’s Statutory Report on setting the 2018/19 Budget, as 
set out in Appendix 3 to the report, be noted;

(9) the Statutory Pay Policy Statement, as set out in Appendix 4 to the report, be 
adopted and published; and

(10) it be noted that the proposals contained in the report have been incorporated 
into the Procurement Schedule, Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management 
Framework elsewhere on the agenda.

C/83 CALCULATING AND SETTING THE 2018/19 COUNCIL TAX 

Councillor Giles Archibald, Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder, presented a report 
which would enable the Council to calculate and set the Council Tax for 2018/19. The 
precepts from Cumbria County Council and the Cumbria Police and Crime 
Commissioner had been confirmed, at the values previously proposed, on 15 February 
and 14 February respectively. As the billing authority, South Lakeland District Council 
was required to undertake a series of calculations in order to determine the Council 
Tax to be set for each parish within the district.

Once the Council Tax had been approved, Council Tax bills would be issued to each 
household in South Lakeland during March 2018 in accordance with the amounts set 
subject to any reductions for discounts, exemptions or reliefs.

Councillor Giles Archibald proposed that the suggested Council Tax Resolution 
contained within Appendix A of the report be approved, and this was seconded by 
Councillor Graham Vincent.

Councillor Vincent highlighted the weightings of each precepting authority and queried 
whether there would be other ways of raising money by the various authorities. In 
response, Councillor Ian Stewart explained that, while not always immediately visible, 
the annual investment back into South Lakeland from Cumbria County Council was 
over double the amount that the County Council raised from Council Tax in the District.

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 and the Council’s Rules of Procedure, a recorded vote was taken on 
the recommendations as follows:–

The following Members voted in favour (27):- Councillors Archibald, Audland, Clough, 
Coleman, Collins, Cotton, Curwen, Dixon, Eccles, Emmott, David Evans, Shirley 
Evans, Finch, Gray, Hughes, Jarvis, Jones, McSweeney, Morrell, Rawlinson, Rees, 
Sanderson, Severn, Stewart, Thornton, Vincent and Mark Wilson.

No Members voted against. 

Page 12



59
27.02.2018 Council

The following Members abstained (12):- Councillors James Airey, Berry, Bingham, 
Bishop-Rowe, Cooper, Hall, Harvey, Holmes, Jenkinson, Lancaster, Mackie and Rigg.

RESOLVED – That

(1) it be noted that on 18 December 2017, under powers delegated under 
Paragraph 8.1 of Section 8 of Part 5 of the Council’s Constitution, the Assistant 
Director (Resources) and Section 151 Officer calculated the Council Tax Base for the 
financial year 2018/19 by means of an Administrative Decision:-

(a) for the whole of the District as 45,265.99 (Item T in the formula in 
Section 31(B) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (”the Act”), as 
amended); and

(b) for dwellings in those parts of the District to which a Parish Precept 
relates as in the attached Appendix C to the report;

(2) the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for the financial 
year 2018/19 (excluding parish precepts) be calculated as £8,629,056. No costs are to 
be treated as special expenses;

(3) the following amounts be calculated for the financial year 2018/19 in 
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act:

(a) £63,853,286.12 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into account 
all precepts issued to it by Parish Councils;

(b) £53,611,965.00 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act; including Revenue 
Support Grant and retained Business Rates;

(c) £10,241,321.12 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above 
exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated in accordance with section 
31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax requirement for the year (Item R - P in the 
formula in Section 31B of the Act);

(d) £226.25 being the amount at 3(c) above (Item R) all divided by Item 
T(1(a) above) calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of the 
Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including parish 
precepts);

(e) £1,612,265.12 being the aggregate of all special items (parish precepts) 
referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per the attached Appendix C to the 
report); and

(f) £190.63 being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing 
the amount at 3(e) above by item T (1(a) above), calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council 
Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its District to which no parish 
precept relates;

(4) it be noted that the County Council and the Cumbria Police and Crime 
Commissioner have issued precepts to the Council in accordance with Section 40 of 

Page 13



60
27.02.2018 Council

the Act for each category of dwellings in the Council’s district as indicated in the 
Appendix to these minutes;

(5) the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Act, hereby sets the 
aggregate amounts shown in the Appendix to these minutes as the amounts of Council 
Tax for 2018/19 for each part of its District and for each of the categories of dwellings; 
and

(6) it be determined that the Council’s basic amount of Council Tax for 2018/19 is 
not excessive in accordance with principles approved under Section 52ZB of the Act.

C/84 2017/18 AND 2018/19 PROCUREMENT SCHEDULE (BUDGET AND POLICY 
FRAMEWORK DECISION) 

The Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder, Councillor Giles Archibald, presented the 
2017/18 and 2018/19 Procurement Schedules. 

The Procurement Schedule for 2017/18 had been approved by Council on 22 February 
2017, and new procurement exercises had been added during the year which required 
Council approval. Of 111 procurement exercises, 46 had been completed, 21 were a 
work-in-progress, 12 had not been required, four had required a scope change, two 
were on hold and 26 would be carried forward.

The Procurement Schedule 2018/19 identified 83 procurement projects, similar in 
number to the 84 exercises originally approved for the previous year’s Schedule. In 
order to deliver the high volume of procurement activity, additional fixed-term resource 
had been sourced to strengthen the Procurement Team to assist in the delivery of the 
programme.

In proposing the recommendations contained within the report, Councillor Archibald 
explained that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had provided a number of 
suggestions, such as categorisation by ward, which would be incorporated into future 
documents to help to make the Procurement Schedule even more helpful for 
councillors. The motion was seconded by Councillor Kevin Lancaster.

RESOLVED – That the Procurement Schedules at Appendix 1 and Appendix 3 to the 
report be approved.

C/85 2018/19 TO 2022/23 TREASURY MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (BUDGET AND 
POLICY FRAMEWORK DECISION) 

The 2018/19 to 2022/23 Treasury Management Framework was presented by 
Councillor Giles Archibald, Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder. The Framework had 
been updated to reflect the 2018/19 budget and capital programme and included 
amendments to the counterparty selection criteria. The draft Treasury Management 
Framework had previously been considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on 12 January 2018, and by Cabinet on 7 February 2018.

Following a proposal from Councillor Archibald, seconded by Councillor Andrew Jarvis, 
it was

RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management Framework and the authorised 
borrowing limits within the report be approved.

Page 14



61
27.02.2018 Council

C/86 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK 
DECISION) 

The Local Development Scheme (LDS) was introduced by Councillor Graham Vincent, 
Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder, on behalf of the Deputy Leader and Housing 
and Innovation Portfolio Holder. The LDS was the Council’s project plan for bringing 
future Local Plan documents forward. There had been significant progress since the 
previous LDS had been adopted in July 20156 and a replacement was now needed to 
guide the final stages of current plan-making in 2018 and to have a single replacement 
Local Plan in place by 2021 to cover the period 2016 – 2036. The Government was 
placing increasing emphasis on local planning authorities having up-to-date local plans 
and regulations were planned to require the review of plans every five years.

Since the previous LDS had been published major progress had been made, including 
the adoption of a suite of 12 development briefs, the implementation of the South 
Lakeland Community Infrastructure Levy and the progression of two Development Plan 
Documents which would complete the current Local Plan. The proposed LDS set out a 
timetable for the delivery of a number of documents over the next three years. In 
proposing the adoption of the Local Development Scheme 2018-21, Councillor Vincent 
explained that this would ensure that the District was at the forefront of planning in the 
area, and would allow the Council to work constructively with stakeholders going 
forward.

Councillor Sylvia Emmott seconded the motion and offered her thanks to the 
Development Strategy and Housing Manager and his team for all the work that had 
gone into the Scheme and the documents behind it.

Councillor Stan Collins highlighted the complex planning authority arrangements that 
existed within the District and expressed his view that a full external audit should be 
conducted of planning decisions, advice from officers, conditions and their 
enforceability and enforcement action taken across all planning authorities in South 
Lakeland. He felt that this would not only reassure the public, but would also ensure 
that decisions were being taken correctly.

Councillor Kevin Lancaster supported the suggestion from Councillor Collins. He 
wished to make Members aware that issues had arisen due to National Park boundary 
changes within Eden District, but offered reassurance that the handover between 
South Lakeland District Council and the Yorkshire Dales National Park had been very 
well done.

Councillor David Evans expressed his disappointment that no explicit reference to 
flooding was included within the description for South Lakeland Local Plan Part 3 – 
Development Management Policies and stated his view that all Council plans and 
strategies should reflect the full implications of climate change and flooding. He 
requested that assurance be given that the next stage of documents fully reflect the 
issues of flooding to reassure residents. Councillor Archibald gave Cabinet’s 
commitment to ensure that this was done.

RESOLVED – That the Local Development Scheme 2018-21, as attached at Appendix 
1 to the report, be adopted.

Page 15



62
27.02.2018 Council

C/87 MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2017-2020 

The Council Organisation and People Portfolio Holder, Councillor Brenda Gray, 
presented the Member Development Strategy 2017 – 2020.

The work in member development had been informed by ‘21st Century Councillor’ 
research undertaken in 2016 by the University of Birmingham. The research had 
identified the changing roles undertaken by Members and councils and the need to 
ensure that the work of the council was in line with new ways of working, including 
changing customer demand within digital ways of working.

Cabinet at its meeting on 24 January 2018 had approved the adoption of the IT roll out 
for Members and IT protocol as detailed in that report.

Within South Lakeland District Council a number of activities were underway which 
would impact on the way Members engage with the business of the Council, including 
the implications of the Further Electoral Review, the Customer Connect Programme 
and technological improvements. These had led to a number of actions which were 
captured within the Member Development Strategy and Action Plan.

The revised Member Development Strategy had been supported by the cross-party 
Member Support Steering Group.

In proposing the recommendations contained within the report, Councillor Gray 
acknowledged that for returning councillors this could be a big step, but big steps were 
necessary in order to bring the Council into the 21st century. She hoped that for new 
councillors coming in the work that had been done would ensure that, for them, the 
new digital way of working would quickly become business as usual. The motion was 
seconded by Councillor Pete McSweeney.

Councillor Tom Harvey expressed his concern that whilst a digital framework was 
needed, the proposals currently were tailored to suit the Council and not its councillors. 
He acknowledged that the Member Development Strategy was a step in the right 
direction but that it did not adequately reflect the needs of councillors and, as such, felt 
unable to support the proposals at this time.

Councillor Peter Thornton highlighted the advancements made in technology and 
reassured Members that the issues experienced in years past would not affect the work 
of today. He encouraged Members to use the ModGov app for agenda papers, 
highlighting that it was not only the cost of printing paper agendas that the Council 
faced, but also the cost of disposal following meetings.

As a representative of the Member Support Steering Group, Councillor Janette 
Jenkinson spoke in favour of the proposals. She highlighted the need to embrace 
digital working, but expressed her concerns that the prevalence of technology at 
Council meetings could have an effect on debate. She was also disappointed that little 
consultation had been conducted with councillors, particular with regard to the 
equipment they felt they needed to carry out their role.

Councillors Mark Wilson and Sue Sanderson, also representatives of the Member 
Support Steering Group spoke in favour of the proposals. Councillor Wilson reiterated 
the impact that the ward boundary changes would have to the way that councillors 
would work in the future. Councillor Sanderson emphasised the work that had gone 
into the Member Development Strategy over the years in order to prepare for 

Page 16



63
27.02.2018 Council

21st Century councillors. She explained that many other councils were having the same 
discussions, and explained that the proposals would provide the support needed for the 
future. She also drew attention to the amended role profiles and complemented them 
as particularly useful documents when understanding the responsibilities of councillors.

RESOLVED – That

(1) the Member Development Strategy, as attached at Appendix A to the report, 
and the Member Development Protocol, as attached at Appendix C to the report, be 
endorsed; and

(2) the revised role descriptions for Members at Appendix B to the report be 
incorporated into the Council’s Constitution when next revised.

Note – In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Part 4, Rule 8 (Rules of 
Procedure), a motion to continue the meeting past 9.30 p.m., moved by 
Councillor Graham Vincent and seconded by Councillor Matt Severn, was 
passed.

C/88 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND CABINET QUESTION TIME (30 MINUTES) 

In accordance with paragraphs 10.2 and 10.3 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure, the 
following written questions had been submitted to the meeting:-

From Councillor Vicky Hughes to the Culture, Media and Leisure Portfolio Holder, 
Councillor Matt Severn – This Council supports our strategic cultural partners with 
targeted investment. Can Cllr Severn give an indication of the level of outside grants 
and investment funding that our partners receive from other organisations as a result of 
this Councils support?

In response, Councillor Matt Severn, Culture Media and Leisure Portfolio Holder, 
described the Council’s strong partnership work, particularly with Arts Council England. 
He explained that the Council’s advocacy, support and investment of £114,000 per 
annum to four organisations in the area resulted in National Portfolio Organisation 
investment from Arts Council England of approximately £1.5m. Councillor Severn 
undertook to provide a full written answer following the meeting.

The written question having been presented and answered, the following verbal 
question was then taken from the floor:-

Councillor James Airey asked the Leader of the Council, Councillor Giles Archibald, 
whether he was aware of, and had registered opposition to, the proposed cuts to fire 
services in Ulverston. Councillor Archibald undertook to provide a written response.

All questions having been taken, Councillor Giles Archibald, the Leader of the Council, 
reiterated his view that climate change was the most serious matter to face in the 
coming years. Emphasising that the Council had a leadership role to play, the Leader 
announced that he had asked the Chief Executive to resurrect the Council’s Green 
Team. The Team would look forensically at what the authority can do to reduce the 
effects of climate change, from planting new trees to looking at how the Council 
procures vehicles and manages assets. He encouraged all councillors to consider 
whether they wished to engage with the Green Team, which would be led by the 
Environment Portfolio Holder, Councillor David Fletcher.

Page 17



64
27.02.2018 Council

C/89 MINUTES OF MEETINGS 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no comments or questions have been received in 
respect of the minutes of committee meetings held between 27 November 2017 and 26 
January 2018.

C/90 QUESTIONS TO CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL OR CHAIRMAN OF ANY 
COMMITTEE OR SUB-COMMITTEE 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no questions have been received under Rule 10.6 
of the Council’s Rules of Procedure.

The meeting ended at 9.40 p.m.

Page 18



SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Valuation Bands

BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H

£127.09 £148.27 £169.45 £190.63 £ 232.99 £275.35 £317.72 £381.26

CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL

Valuation Bands

BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H

Main 
Precept £838.79 £978.58 £1,118.38 £1,258.18 £1,537.78 £1,817.37 £2,096.97 £2,516.36

Adult 
Social 
Care 

Element

 £49.30  £57.52 £65.73 £73.95 £90.38 £106.82 £123.25 £147.90

Total £888.09 £1,036.10 £1,184.11 £1,332.13 £1,628.16 £1,924.19 £2,220.22 £2,664.26

POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER

Valuation Bands

BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H

£155.16 £181.02 £206.88 £232.74 £284.46 £336.18 £387.90 £465.48

Page 65

Minute Appendix 

Page 19



COUNCIL TAX FOR EACH PART OF THE DISTRICT

Valuation Bands

PARISH

BAND 
A

£

BAND 
B

£

BAND 
C

£

BAND 
D

£

BAND 
E

£

BAND 
F

£

BAND 
G

£

BAND 
H

£

ALDINGHAM 1,183.27 1,380.47 1,577.68 1,774.89 2,169.31 2,563.73 2,958.16 3,549.78

ALLITHWAITE UPPER 1,196.19 1,395.55 1,594.91 1,794.28 2,193.01 2,591.74 2,990.47 3,588.56

ARNSIDE 1,194.30 1,393.34 1,592.39 1,791.44 2,189.54 2,587.63 2,985.74 3,582.88

BARBON 1,203.79 1,404.41 1,605.04 1,805.67 2,206.93 2,608.19 3,009.46 3,611.34

BEETHAM 1,185.61 1,383.21 1,580.80 1,778.41 2,173.61 2,568.81 2,964.02 3,556.82

BLAWITH & 
SUBBERTHWAITE

1,187.11 1,384.96 1,582.80 1,780.66 2,176.36 2,572.06 2,967.77 3,561.32

BROUGHTON EAST 1,183.48 1,380.72 1,577.96 1,775.21 2,169.70 2,564.19 2,958.69 3,550.42

BURNESIDE (1) 1,196.63 1,396.07 1,595.50 1,794.94 2,193.81 2,592.69 2,991.57 3,589.88

BURTON IN KENDAL 1,189.41 1,387.63 1,585.86 1,784.10 2,180.57 2,577.03 2,973.51 3,568.20

CARTMEL FELL 1,186.75 1,384.53 1,582.32 1,780.11 2,175.69 2,571.27 2,966.86 3,560.22

CASTERTON 1,205.73 1,406.67 1,607.62 1,808.58 2,210.49 2,612.39 3,014.31 3,617.16

CLAIFE 1,186.93 1,384.75 1,582.56 1,780.39 2,176.03 2,571.67 2,967.32 3,560.78

COLTON 1,186.79 1,384.58 1,582.37 1,780.17 2,175.76 2,571.35 2,966.96 3,560.34

CONISTON 1,198.19 1,397.88 1,597.57 1,797.27 2,196.66 2,596.05 2,995.46 3,594.54

CROOK 1,190.48 1,388.89 1,587.29 1,785.71 2,182.53 2,579.36 2,976.19 3,571.42

CROSTHWAITE & 
LYTH

1,179.34 1,375.89 1,572.44 1,769.00 2,162.11 2,555.22 2,948.34 3,538.00

DENT 1,198.50 1,398.24 1,597.99 1,797.74 2,197.24 2,596.73 2,996.24 3,595.48

DOCKER 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

DUDDON (2) 1,192.61 1,391.38 1,590.14 1,788.91 2,186.44 2,583.98 2,981.52 3,577.82

EGTON WITH 
NEWLAND, 
MANSRIGGS & 
OSMOTHERLEY (3)

1,179.73 1,376.35 1,572.96 1,769.59 2,162.83 2,556.07 2,949.32 3,539.18

Page 66Page 20



PARISH

BAND 
A

£

BAND 
B

£

BAND 
C

£

BAND 
D

£

BAND 
E

£

BAND 
F

£

BAND 
G

£

BAND 
H

£

FAWCETT FOREST 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

FIRBANK 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

GARSDALE 1,180.93 1,377.75 1,574.56 1,771.39 2,165.03 2,558.67 2,952.32 3,542.78

GRANGE-OVER-
SANDS

1,224.09 1,428.09 1,632.10 1,836.12 2,244.15 2,652.17 3,060.21 3,672.24

GRAYRIGG 1,174.89 1,370.69 1,566.50 1,762.32 2,153.95 2,545.57 2,937.21 3,524.64

HAVERTHWAITE 1,191.31 1,389.86 1,588.40 1,786.96 2,184.06 2,581.16 2,978.27 3,573.92

HAWKSHEAD 1,191.07 1,389.57 1,588.08 1,786.59 2,183.61 2,580.63 2,977.66 3,573.18

HELSINGTON 1,200.45 1,400.51 1,600.58 1,800.66 2,200.81 2,600.95 3,001.11 3,601.32

HEVERSHAM 1,190.29 1,388.66 1,587.04 1,785.42 2,182.18 2,578.94 2,975.71 3,570.84

HINCASTER 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

HOLME 1,193.89 1,392.87 1,591.84 1,790.83 2,188.79 2,586.75 2,984.72 3,581.66

HUTTON ROOF 1,193.33 1,392.22 1,591.10 1,789.99 2,187.76 2,585.54 2,983.32 3,579.98

KENDAL 1,194.50 1,393.58 1,592.65 1,791.74 2,189.90 2,588.07 2,986.24 3,583.48

KENTMERE 1,180.44 1,377.17 1,573.91 1,770.65 2,164.13 2,557.60 2,951.09 3,541.30

KILLINGTON 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

KIRKBY IRELETH 1,178.49 1,374.90 1,571.31 1,767.73 2,160.56 2,553.39 2,946.22 3,535.46

KIRKBY LONSDALE 1,208.58 1,410.00 1,611.43 1,812.86 2,215.72 2,618.57 3,021.44 3,625.72

LAKES 1,198.94 1,398.76 1,598.57 1,798.40 2,198.04 2,597.69 2,997.34 3,596.80

LAMBRIGG 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

LEVENS 1,188.99 1,387.14 1,585.30 1,783.47 2,179.80 2,576.12 2,972.46 3,566.94

LONGSLEDDALE 1,171.01 1,366.17 1,561.33 1,756.50 2,146.83 2,537.16 2,927.51 3,513.00

LOWER 
ALLITHWAITE

1,196.58 1,396.00 1,595.43 1,794.86 2,193.72 2,592.57 2,991.44 3,589.72

LOWER HOLKER 1,185.48 1,383.05 1,580.63 1,778.21 2,173.37 2,568.52 2,963.69 3,556.42

LOWICK 1,185.20 1,382.73 1,580.25 1,777.79 2,172.85 2,567.92 2,962.99 3,555.58

Page 67Page 21



PARISH

BAND 
A

£

BAND 
B

£

BAND 
C

£

BAND 
D

£

BAND 
E

£

BAND 
F

£

BAND 
G

£

BAND 
H

£

LUPTON 1,192.79 1,391.58 1,590.37 1,789.17 2,186.76 2,584.35 2,981.96 3,578.34

MANSERGH 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

MIDDLETON 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

MILNTHORPE 1,195.29 1,394.50 1,593.71 1,792.93 2,191.36 2,589.79 2,988.22 3,585.86

NATLAND 1,183.79 1,381.09 1,578.38 1,775.68 2,170.27 2,564.87 2,959.47 3,551.36

NEW HUTTON 1,174.97 1,370.80 1,566.62 1,762.45 2,154.10 2,545.76 2,937.42 3,524.90

OLD HUTTON & 
HOLMESCALES

1,180.30 1,377.01 1,573.72 1,770.44 2,163.87 2,557.30 2,950.74 3,540.88

PENNINGTON 1,174.87 1,370.67 1,566.48 1,762.29 2,153.91 2,545.53 2,937.16 3,524.58

PRESTON PATRICK 1,185.51 1,383.08 1,580.66 1,778.25 2,173.42 2,568.58 2,963.76 3,556.50

PRESTON RICHARD 1,200.93 1,401.07 1,601.22 1,801.38 2,201.69 2,601.99 3,002.31 3,602.76

SATTERTHWAITE 1,195.27 1,394.48 1,593.68 1,792.90 2,191.32 2,589.74 2,988.17 3,585.80

SEDBERGH 1,192.44 1,391.17 1,589.91 1,788.65 2,186.13 2,583.60 2,981.09 3,577.30

SEDGWICK 1,206.03 1,407.02 1,608.02 1,809.03 2,211.04 2,613.04 3,015.06 3,618.06

SKELSMERGH AND 
SCALTHWAITERIGG 

1,183.73 1,381.01 1,578.29 1,775.58 2,170.15 2,564.72 2,959.31 3,551.16

SKELWITH 1,193.91 1,392.88 1,591.86 1,790.85 2,188.82 2,586.78 2,984.76 3,581.70

STAINTON 1,188.95 1,387.10 1,585.25 1,783.41 2,179.72 2,576.03 2,972.36 3,566.82

STAVELEY IN 
CARTMEL

1,182.95 1,380.10 1,577.25 1,774.41 2,168.72 2,563.03 2,957.36 3,548.82

STAVELEY WITH 
INGS (4)

1,183.27 1,380.48 1,577.68 1,774.90 2,169.32 2,563.74 2,958.17 3,549.80

TORVER 1,193.84 1,392.81 1,591.77 1,790.75 2,188.69 2,586.64 2,984.59 3,581.50

ULVERSTON 1,203.04 1,403.54 1,604.04 1,804.55 2,205.56 2,606.57 3,007.59 3,609.10

UNDERBARROW AND 
BRADLEYFIELD

1,195.46 1,394.70 1,593.93 1,793.18 2,191.66 2,590.15 2,988.64 3,586.36

URSWICK BARDSEA 
AND STAINTON

1,179.10 1,375.61 1,572.12 1,768.64 2,161.67 2,554.70 2,947.74 3,537.28

WHINFELL 1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

WHITWELL & 
SELSIDE

1,170.34 1,365.39 1,560.44 1,755.50 2,145.61 2,535.72 2,925.84 3,511.00

Page 68Page 22



PARISH

BAND 
A

£

BAND 
B

£

BAND 
C

£

BAND 
D

£

BAND 
E

£

BAND 
F

£

BAND 
G

£

BAND 
H

£

WINDERMERE 1,191.11 1,389.62 1,588.13 1,786.65 2,183.68 2,580.71 2,977.76 3,573.30

WITHERSLACK 
MEATHOP AND 
ULPHA 

1,190.82 1,389.28 1,587.75 1,786.22 2,183.16 2,580.09 2,977.04 3,572.44

 

Note (1) - The Parish of Burneside, comprises Strickland Ketel and Strickland Roger

Note (2) - The Parish of Duddon, comprises Angerton, Broughton West and Dunnerdale

Note (3) – The Parish of Egton-with-Newland Mansriggs & Osmotherley comprises Egton with   
Newland,  Mansriggs and Osmotherley                                                                                                                           

Note (4) – The Parish of Staveley with Ings comprises, Hugill, Nether Staveley and Over 
Staveley

Page 69Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70Page 24



1

South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018
South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership Plan 

2018/19

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Philip Dixon - Public Health and Wellbeing 
Portfolio Holder

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr - Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Simon Blyth - Principal Partnerships and Communities 
Officer

WARDS: Not applicable

FORWARD PLAN: Budget and Policy Framework Decision 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME

1.1 SLDC approves the new South Cumbria Community Partnership (CSP) Plan 
2018/19 and recognises the effective collaboration in place between SLDC 
and Barrow Borough Council, Cumbria Police and partner agencies including 
Safer Cumbria.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 It is recommended that Council approve the South Cumbria Community 
Safety Partnership Plan (2018/19) for adoption.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS

3.1 The Community Safety Partnership Plan is part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework. The attached Partnership Plan was approved at South Cumbria 
CSP on 13 March 2018.

3.2 Specific actions under the priorities will now be worked up with partners, 
delivering projects designed to add value to current community safety 
initiatives and activities County wide. Funding from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner supports delivery of these projects. Projects will be monitored 
and reports on outcomes given to the CSP at the conclusion of the projects. 
Progress reports are provided for Overview and Scrutiny twice yearly.

3.3 CSP’s are statutorily responsible for reducing crime and disorder, substance 
misuse and re-offending in each local authority area. Each CSP is made up of 
5 ‘responsible authorities’, currently comprising:
• police
• local authority

Page 25

Item No.6



2

• fire and rescue service
• probation trust
• CCG.

3.4 The South Cumbria CSP is an amalgamation of South Lakeland and Barrow 
CSP’s and was formally agreed on 25 January 2017. This now means 
Cumbria is covered by 3 CSP’S: South, West and North, each covering 2 
District areas.

3.5 The CSP aims to reduce crime and enable local communities to remain safe 
and reassured, without fear or threat of crime. It does this through identifying 
priorities (related to crime figures and trends, and the Police and Crime Plan) 
for its annual Partnership Plan. Sub-groups are convened to develop projects 
and actions.  

3.6 There are 4 joint meetings per annum, currently held in the Coronation Hall in 
Ulverston. The Chair is Councillor Brendan Sweeney (Barrow Borough 
Council) who was appointed in October 2016. The vice chair is Police 
Superintendent Rob O’Connor. 

3.7 SLDC provides the CSP coordinator who, along with the Chair, attends 
County wide Safer Cumbria meetings. This ensures the CSP’s work links in 
with wider Cumbrian projects and initiatives (for example the “Staying Safe 
online” programme).

3.8 There has been a focus on serious and organised crime at recent meetings 
with the Police providing verbal updates of the situation in South Cumbria, 
giving the opportunity for partners to be aware and work collaboratively where 
applicable.

3.9 In 2017 the CSP agreed to focus its Plan on 2 priorities: Alcohol and violent 
crime/ sexual offences and online child sexual exploitation and staying 
safe. A number of projects were initiated to tackle these issues including:

 Applied Theatre in Cumbria: SLDC, in conjunction with partners 
including the Arts Council/ Curious Minds, Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC), Cumbria County Council, and Barrow 
Borough Council, raised £150,000 to commission the Brewery Arts 
Centre to write and perform plays in 10 schools in South Cumbria. 
These professional productions, with a national award winning 
playwright, will focus on community safety and health and wellbeing.

 A campaign to educate the public on cross County drug lines to 
empower them to report drug dealing activities and exploitation 
anonymously. This project will also receive community intelligence on 
those who are travelling from urban areas outside Cumbria to set up 
drug networks, raise awareness of the issue with professionals 
throughout South Lakeland, make the public and criminals aware in 
urban areas that proactive activities are taking place to detect and 
disrupt their activities, make vulnerable children and adults aware that 
they are being targeted by criminals and to give them or their friends an 
anonymous way of reporting.

Page 26



3

 Early intervention problem solving training was funded for Multi agency 
partners. This training will go towards the setting up of community 
safety hubs in Kendal and Barrow.  

 £4000 to Cumbria Alcohol and Drug Addiction Service (CADAS) to 
contribute to the reduction of alcohol related crime, CSE and hospital 
admissions in South Cumbria using workshops for young people and 
CPD sessions for professionals working with children and young 
people in generic and specific drug and alcohol topics as well as risk 
taking behaviour.

3.10 The Partnership Plan for 2018/19 is in appendix 1. Priorities are: Alcohol and 
violent crime, Child sexual exploitation (CSE), Domestic abuse and 
Mental Health.

3.11 Alcohol and violent crime and CSE remain in the Plan as alcohol is a 
significant causal factor in violent (and other) crime. CSE remains a key issue 
for South Cumbria (as it is nationally). The CSP intends to target messages at 
parents as well as children to raise awareness of Domestic abuse and CSE. 
Domestic abuse offences have increased in South Lakeland by 8.6% over the 
last 3 years (8% compared with last year). The CSP will work with the Safer 
Cumbria Domestic Abuse Strategy (2018-2020).

4.0 CONSULTATION

4.1 The CSP Partnership Plan links in with consultation done as part of the 
Cumbria Police and Crime Plan. The Plan is also circulated and discussed 
among CSP members. A report is provided to the SLDC Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the CSP twice annually from 2018 – the last meeting 
was on 2 February 2018 (link here, O&S 56).

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

5.1 CSP’s have a statutory responsibility to produce a Partnership Plan.
6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES

6.1 This report links to the Council Plan target: “We will work with partners to 
reduce the number of people affected by domestic violence, alcohol related 
crime, substance misuse, anti-social behaviour and serious and organised 
crime through our excellent Community Safety Partnership work” and 
“improving health and reducing health inequalities”.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources

7.1.1 SLDC act as accountable body for the partnership and hold and administer all 
funding as directed by the CSP. The Police and Crime Commissioner 
allocated £20,000 to each CSP area (i.e. north, south and west) with effect 
from 2017/18. In addition, £15,000 is allocated to each CSP area towards the 
cost of managing the work of the CSP. The PCC has also allocated £15,000 
towards the maintenance of Barwatch schemes across the county, with a 
direct benefit to Business Against Crime South Lakeland Partnership.

Page 27

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=364&MId=4341&Ver=4


4

AMOUNT 
(per 

annum to 
March 
2020)

PURPOSE ORGANISATION 
receiving funds

£15,000 Contribution to costs of CSP co-
ordinator in administering the CSP 
and delivering on projects.

SLDC

£20,000 Funding for local projects that 
support the Police and Crime Plan 
and the local CSP action plan aimed 
at reducing crime and anti-social 
behaviour and supporting victims of 
crime and tackling emerging issues.

SLDC

£15,000 Contribution to Barwatch schemes 
across Barrow and South Lakeland 

Business Against 
Crime South Lakeland 
Partnership (BACSLP)

7.2 Human Resources

7.2.1 SLDC provides the coordination of the CSP and administrative support. This 
is funded through the OPCC. No other specific SLDC issues have been 
identified. 

7.3 Legal

7.3.1 This report relates to statutory responsibilities detailed in the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998, the Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Policing and 
Crime Act 2009 (Section 108)

7.3.2 There remains a statutory requirement for CSPs to produce a Strategic 
Assessment, currently undertaken by the Cumbria Intelligence Observatory 
and an annual Partnership Plan.  

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

The report (and the CSP Plan) details the 
social impacts around crime, alcohol, 
drugs, risk-taking behaviour and 
loneliness and isolation. 

Page 28



5

7.5 Equality and Diversity
Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

Equality impacts will be completed as part 
of the projects funded by the CSP. 

7.6 Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
The Plan is not 
representative of CSP 
interests.

Partners will not support 
the Plan and the credibility 
of the CSP will be 
damaged.

The Plan has been drawn 
up with reference to the 
Cumbria Police and Crime 
Plan, the South Cumbria 
Police Superintendent and 
will be fully discussed and 
agreed at the CSP 
Executive meeting before 
approval.

CONTACT OFFICERS

Report Author - Simon Blyth, Principal Partnership and Communities Officer, 
Partnerships and Organisational Development, 01539 793262, email: 
s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 
Appendix No.
1 South Cumbria CSP Partnership Plan 2018/19  

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE N/A
TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

1/3/2018 1/3/2018 1/3/2018 1/3/2018 N/A
Executive 
(Cabinet)

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

N/A N/A 28/3/2018 1/3/2018 1/3/2018
Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)

Comms Team

1/3/2018 N/A N/A N/A

Page 29

mailto:s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Alcohol and
violent crime

Child sexual
exploitation

Message from the
Chair of South Cumbria
Community Safety
Partnership 
(CSP)
Our vision is to keep South Cumbria
communities safe. We do this by
identifying priorities based on Police and
strategic partner’s statistics, knowledge
and experience. With funding from the
Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner
we run local crime prevention projects
and campaigns aimed at tackling current
areas of concern. You can see what we
did last year on the right. 

For 2018/19 we will continue with these
key priorities to keep South Cumbria as
safe as possible.

The CSP is a unique opportunity for
partners to discuss issues, pool best
practice and deliver innovative as well as
tried and tested projects to reduce
crime. 

Cllr Brendan Sweeney, Chair, 
South Cumbria CSP

Partnership Plan 2018-2019
Making Cumbria a safe place to live, work and visit

Partnership Members
Age UK

Barrow Borough Council

Crimestoppers

Cumbria & Lancashire Probation

Cumbria & Lancashire Community
Rehabilitation Company

Cumbria Associations of Local
Councils (CALC)

Cumbria Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG)

To view the Community Safety Strategic Assessment on which this plan is based please go to: www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/Crime/Crimeanddisorder.asp

Domestic abuse

Applied Theatre in Schools: Using drama to
raise awareness among 13 and 14 year-
olds of personal resilience and mental
health the CSP commissioned the Brewery
Arts centre to perform in ten schools
throughout April and May 2018.  Carlisle
and Eden MIND supported the
performances with workshops where they
provided the tools and techniques to stay
healthy and safe.
This work was supplemented with CADAS
and The Well providing educative
workshops, newsletters and counselling
for vulnerable young people around
alcohol and drugs.

What we did in 2017/18Key priorities 2018-19

Keeping
South

Cumbria safe

Mental health

• Askam-in-Furness (Barrow Borough) was the safest small sized town in the whole North West
Region in 2017.

• Grange-over-Sands and Sedbergh (SLDC) were the fourth and seventh safest respectively.

• Ulverston (SLDC) was the safest midsized town in the whole North West Region.

• South Cumbria has a population of approx 170,000 residents, with house burglary numbers
being less than one per day, making it one of the safest areas in the UK.

• Over a quarter of all crime results in a positive outcome, which is the second highest in
England and Wales, meaning offenders face justice.

Tackling crime in South Cumbria
Cumbria has the second lowest number of recorded crimes in England and Wales for 2017.Cumbria Constabulary

Cumbria County Council 
Cumbria Council for Voluntary
Services (CVS)
Cumbria Fire & Rescue Service
Office of the Police and Crime
Commissioner
South Lakeland District Council
Victim Support

Youth Offending Services

Appendix 1

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



1

South Lakeland District Council
Full Council

28 March 2018
Request by Allithwaite Upper Parish Council to 

change the parish name to Lindale and Newton in 
Cartmel Parish 

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

WARDS: Lyth Valley, Staveley in Cartmel

FORWARD PLAN: not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 The report sets out a request from Upper Allithwaite Parish Council for a 

change of name of the parish and seeks approval of the recommendation to 
the name of Lindale and Newton in Cartmel Parish.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 It is recommended that:-

(1) the Parish of Upper Allithwaite be renamed Lindale and Newton in 
Cartmel parish; and

(2) a Notice be published in accordance with the statutory 
requirements detailed in the report.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS
3.1 A request has been received from Upper Allithwaite Parish Council seeking 

the District Council’s approval for a change of name of Upper Allithwaite 
Parish.  The Parish Council has proposed that the parish should be renamed 
Lindale and Newton in Cartmel Parish as this provides a clearer description of 
the relevant geographical areas.

3.2 The Parish Council has consulted with local residents as part of its 
Community Plan Review, the details of which are provided in the attached 
letter from the Parish Council.

3.3 At the request of a Parish Council the District Council has power under 
section 75 of the Local Government Act 1972 to change the name of the 

Page 33

Item No.7



2

parish provided no other changes are proposed.  The Parish Council’s 
request is limited to the change of name of the parish and, therefore, can be 
considered and implemented by the District Council without the need for a 
Community Governance Review.

3.4 The Parish Council has consulted with the residents of the parish and 
publicised the intention to proceed with a name change.  The Clerk has 
contacted parishes close by that have a link to Allithwaite and Cartmel but has 
had no response or objections from either. 

3.5 Should the District Council approve the recommendation then pursuant to 
section 14 of the Local Government Act the Parish Council’s name will 
automatically change to reflect the new name of the parish, and will therefore 
be known as Lindale and Newton in Cartmel Parish Council.

4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 The District Council is not required to undertake any consultation in this 

matter.  The Parish Council has undertaken consultation as detailed in the 
attached letter.

4.2 The Ward members have been consulted and are supportive of the proposal 
from the Parish Council.

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 The District Council could refuse the request, but this is not recommended as 

the Parish have indicated that they wish to see a name change.
6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 Empowering local communities.
7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.
7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 Electoral registers will be updated to reflect any change to the Parish name, 

this would be done within existing resources.
7.3 Legal
7.3.1 Section 75 of the Local Government Act 1972 enables a District Council to 

change the name of a parish where a request is received from a parish 
council.  The 1972 Act does not require a consultation to be undertaken by 
the District Council when considering such a request.  Due consideration 
however, must be given to the reasons for the request and the outcome of 
any consultation with residents undertaken by the parish council.  These 
matters are set out within the report and letter from the Parish Council.

7.3.2 If the recommendation is approved the District Council is required to publish a 
notice confirming the change of name of the parish.  This must be published 
within the Parish, and the District Council is also required to send copies to 
the Secretary of State, the Director General of the Ordnance Survey and the 
Registrar General. 

Page 34



3

7.3.3 Further in relation to the consequence of the change of parish name, section 
75(3) of the LGA states that “a change of name made in pursuance of this 
section shall not affect any rights or obligations of any parish or of any council, 
authority or person, or render defective any legal proceedings; and any legal 
proceedings may be commenced or continued as if there had been no 
change”.

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4.1

Have you completed and Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☐

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no issues arising for this 
report

7.5 Equality and Diversity
7.5.1 Have you completed an 
Equality Impact Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☐

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no direct equality 
considerations arising from this report

7.6 Risk
There are no risks associated with this report.

CONTACT OFFICERS
Report Author – d.storr@southlakeland.gov.uk

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 
Appendix No.
1 Letter from Allithwaite Upper Parish Council dated 1 February 

2018

Page 35



4

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
None

TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio 
Holder

Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

n/a 7.2.18 1.3.18 n/a

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

n/a n/a 28.3.18 1.3.18 author

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager

Group 
Leaders

Ward 
Councillor(s)

Use these 
boxes for 
additional 
tracking

Use these 
boxes for 
additional 
tracking

n/a 5.3.18 22.2.18

Page 36



Web Site:  www.allithwaiteupperpc.net          e-mail: clerk@allithwaiteupperpc.net

ALLITHWAITE UPPER PARISH COUNCIL
(LINDALE & NEWTON-IN-CARTMEL)

Brackendale
77 Kirkhead Road

Kents Bank
Grange Over Sands

Cumbria
LA11 7DD

Tel.  015395 33091

1st February 2018

Ms D Storr
Director Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)
South Lakeland District Council
South Lakeland House
Lowther Street
Kendal
Cumbria 
LA9 4UF

Dear Ms Storr

Request to change name of Parish

Further to our recent correspondence I am writing to formally request approval of Allithwaite Upper 
Parish Council’s  intention to change the name of the Parish to Lindale and Newton in Cartmel.  
I  understand we are able to do this as per Section 75 Local Government Act 1972, Section 4 Page 32, 
Other Aspects of Community Governance Reviews.  We would request that the parish wards remain 
unchanged as Lindale and Newton wards.

This is a result of frequent confusion with Lower Allithwaite Parish and the fact that Upper Allithwaite 
does not represent the geographical location or identity of our parish. As a Parish Council we have 
been considering for some time the option of changing the parish name.

In 2017 when we carried out a community consultation to review our Community Plan 0f 2008 we 
included a question regarding this matter.

The results are as follows:-
 
78% of respondents  felt it was important that the name of the parish represented it’s geographical 
location
16% felt it was unimportant.
 
The parish council has resolved unanimously at our meeting on 30th November 201 to change the 
name of the parish to Lindale and Newton-in-Cartmel  and the Parish Council will be known as Lindale 
and Newton in Cartmel Parish Council. (A copy of the 1184 minute recording this is attached to this 
letter)

Appendix 1

Page 37

http://www.allithwaiteupperpc.net/
mailto:clerk@allithwaiteupperpc.net


Web Site:  www.allithwaiteupperpc.net          e-mail: clerk@allithwaiteupperpc.net

 
 

 
We have consulted with both SLDC and CCC Councillors for our wards.  They also support our 
resolution.
 
I have also contacted parishes close by that have a link to Allithwaite and Cartmel, i.e. Lower 
Allithwaite PC and Cartmel Fell PC to see what their views are with regard to the planned name change.  
I have received an acknowledgement from Cartmel Fell but had no formal response or objections from 
either.
 
In addition we have publicised our intention to proceed with the name change, we have put an article 
on the news section of the Parish Council website, an article in the parish newsletter and an article 
will appear in the local free paper the Grange Now in next month’s edition.

At the time of writing this letter I have had no comments from any local residents.

Yours sincerely

D C
Debra Cowperthwaite
Clerk
Allithwaite Upper PC

Page 38

http://www.allithwaiteupperpc.net/
mailto:clerk@allithwaiteupperpc.net


Web Site:  www.allithwaiteupperpc.net          e-mail: clerk@allithwaiteupperpc.net

Page 39

http://www.allithwaiteupperpc.net/
mailto:clerk@allithwaiteupperpc.net


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



1

South Lakeland District Council
Full Council

28 March 2018
Temporary appointment to Broughton East Parish 

Council 
PORTFOLIO: Not applicable

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

WARDS: Staveley in Cartmel

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 The report asks Council to note a temporary District Councillor appointment to 

Broughton East Parish Council to enable it to remain quorate pending further 
election/co-option to the Parish Council.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 It is recommended that Council notes the temporary appointment of 

Councillor Sanderson to the Broughton East Parish Council as detailed 
in the report.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS
3.1 A Town or Parish Council must be quorate in order to operate.  A quorate is 

defined as being one third of its membership, but no less than three.
3.2 Section 91(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that the Principal 

Authority, in this case the Council, can make an Order to appoint a sufficient 
number of Town or Parish Councillors on a temporary basis to the Town or 
Parish Council until such time as the vacancies on the Town or Parish Council 
have been filled.

3.3 By virtue of a resolution of Council dated 18 May 2016 the Chief Executive is 
authorised to appoint District Councillors to Parish Councils in accordance 
with the procedure as set out at Appendix A to this report.

3.4 Broughton East Parish Council has five councillors, but currently only has two 
remaining councillors on the Parish Council.  In accordance with the agreed 
procedure, the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, has appointed 
the local District Councillor, Councillor Sanderson to the Parish Council as a 
temporary appointment until such time as the Parish Council is quorate again.

Page 41

Item No.8



2

3.5 Council is asked to note the temporary appointment.
4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 The Clerk to the Parish Council and Ward Member has been consulted in this 

matter and Councillor Sanderson has accepted the temporary appointment. 
4.2 The Leader has been consulted and was supportive of the action taken.
5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 The report is to note. 
6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 Ensuing continuation of local democracy.
7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.
7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 There are no implications arising from this report.
7.3 Legal
7.3.1 The report details s.91(1) of the Local Government Act 1972. Section 91(3) 

requires two copies of every Order made under this section to be sent to the 
Secretary of State and this has been done. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4.1

Have you completed and Health, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
Impact Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☐

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

The report is to advise of a temporary 
Parish Council appointment

7.5 Equality and Diversity
7.5.1 Have you completed an 
Equality Impact Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If yes, please confirm that it is 
attached to the report in the 
appendices.

Yes ☐ No ☐

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no direct equality 
considerations arising from this report

Page 42



3

7.6 Risk
There are no risks associated with this report.

CONTACT OFFICERS
Report Author – d.storr@southlakeland.gov.uk

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 
Appendix No.
1 Procedure for making temporary appointments to Town or 

Parish Councils

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
None

TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio 
Holder

Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

n/a 6.3.18 7.3.18 7.3.18 n/a

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

n/a n/a 28.3.18 7.3.18 author

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)

Use these 
boxes for 
additional 
tracking

Use these 
boxes for 
additional 
tracking

n/a 6.3.18

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



APPENDIX 1

Procedure for making temporary appointments to Town or Parish Councils

This procedure allows South Lakeland District Council to make an Order to appoint 
persons to Town or Parish Councils in accordance with section 91 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

1. The Parish Clerk advises the Council that the town or parish council is unable 
to operate due to being inquorate.

2. Elections verifies the number of seats on the town or parish council and that it 
is inquorate. They also identify the number of appointments required for it to 
become quorate.

3. All district ward members, together with the county councillor for the area in 
which the parish is located will be offered the temporary appointment of parish 
councillor until such time as the vacancies are filled by election.

4. For towns or parishes falling into two different district wards the district ward 
members applicable to the town or parish ward(s) where the vacancies have 
arisen will all be approached.

5. Where the relevant ward members are unable to be appointed and the town or 
parish council remains inquorate the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Leader will consider the way forward which may involve adjacent district ward 
members.

6. All appointments must be made by Order under Section 91(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

7. A report detailing the action taken will be submitted to the next Council meeting.

8. In accordance with Section 91(3) of the Local Government act 1972 the Chief 
Executive will forward two copies of the Order to the Secretary of State.  A copy 
for information will also be sent to the Clerk to the Parish Council.

9. The Order will stipulate the names of the appointment persons and the latest 
date their appointment will expire.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018
ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CALL-IN AND 

URGENCY PROVISIONS 2017/18

CHAIRMAN: Councillor Dyan Jones – Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer

WARDS: Not applicable

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 Providing Council with the findings of this annual review ensures openness and 

transparency regarding the operation of the Constitution’s call-in and urgency 
provisions and clarity regarding the manner in which they have been used over the 
past twelve months.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 It is recommended that Council notes the contents of the 2017/2018 Annual 

Review of the Constitution’s Call-in and Urgency Provisions.
3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS
3.1 Paragraph 16(j)(ii) of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules states 

that the “operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be monitored 
annually, and a report submitted to Council with proposals for review if necessary.”

3.2 Section 100B of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) requires five clear 
working days public notice of the items of business which are to be considered at any 
formal council meetings, including those of committees and sub-committees.

3.3 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 requires 28 days public notice to be given 
of the intention of the Executive to consider a key decision or to hold a meeting (or 
part of a meeting) in private. Executive decisions may be made by the Cabinet, 
individual Portfolio Holders or officers who have been delegated authority to make 
such decisions.

3.4 The 2012 legislation outlines the actions that the Council must take if it cannot meet 
the above notice requirements. The various legal requirements are contained within 
the Council’s Constitution. This report covers the urgency and call-in procedures.

Page 47

Item No.9



Urgency
3.5 The urgency procedure, which allows items to be considered at short notice, is also 

only used on an exceptional basis in line with paragraph 16(j) of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules. If the decision is an urgent one then it is not subject to 
call-in.

3.6 The urgency procedure has been used twice in the past twelve months for the 
following decisions:-

Proposed Extension of Environmental Liability Insurance relating to 2012 
Housing Transfer (Key Decision) (CEX/140, 26 April 2017)
Decision RESOLVED – That

(1) the following be approved:-
(a) the surrender of the remaining five years of the 
existing environmental liability insurance;
(b) the purchase of a new environmental liability 
insurance policy for ten years to 4 March 2027; and
(c) an exemption from Contract Procedure Rules; 
and

(2) the request for call-in to be waived to allow completion of the 
new policy by 4 May 2017 be noted.

Reason for 
Urgency

To enable the Council to accept the time limited insurance quotation 
which would expire on 4 May 2017.

2018/19 Budget Process Update Report (CEX/68, 25 October 2017)

Decision RESOLVED – That Cabinet
(1) notes the contents of the report; and
(2) delegates to the Chief Executive and Assistant Director 
(Resources) and Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the 
Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder, the final decision on 
whether to join the Cumbria 100% business rate pilot and the 
content of any bid.

Reason for 
Urgency

To enable the Council to submit a bid by the deadline date of 27 
October 2017.

Due to the timing of the government prospectus and the timescales for 
agreeing a pilot, the decision had not been included in the Forward 
Plan. The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had 
been consulted and agreed that the decision was also urgent under 
Regulation 10 (General Exception) of the Local Authorities (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Call-in

3.7 The call-in process may be used to challenge Executive decisions. Call-ins are only 
to be used on an exceptional basis in line with paragraph 16 (a) to (i) of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. Paragraph 7 of the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules also refers to call-ins relating to decisions that may be outside the 
budget or policy framework.

Page 48



3.8 One call-in has been received during 2017/18. This was in relation to Cabinet 
Executive Decisions CEX/38 (New Road – Common Land) and CEX/39 (New Road - 
Common Land - Vision for landscaping) made at the Cabinet meeting on 
Wednesday, 30 August 2017. An additional meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee was called on 15 September 2017 to consider the call-in. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee’s decision (O&S/28) was as follows:-

RESOLVED – That the call-in of Executive Decision Numbers CEX/38 and CEX/39 
be dismissed, and the original decisions made by Cabinet accepted.

3.9 Council is asked to note this Annual Review, which concerns paragraph 3.5 and 3.6 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules and also note that no changes are 
proposed for the call-in, or urgency provisions.

4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 This report is provided for information only.

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 This report is provided for information and, therefore, no alternative options are 

suggested.

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 The annual review of the Constitution’s call-in and urgency provisions promotes the 

Council’s approach to openness and transparency.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 There are no financial or resource implications arising from this report.

7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 There are no human resource implications arising from this report.

 7.3 Legal
7.3.1 The legal requirements to which the Council must adhere are set out above. There 

are no further legal implications arising from this report.

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no health, social, economic or 
environmental impacts arising from this 
report.

7.5 Equality and Diversity
Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no equality or diversity impacts 
arising from this report.

Page 49



7.6 Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
The Council does not 
properly review the use of 
its call-in and urgency 
provisions.

These provisions could be 
used incorrectly or 
inappropriately which 
could result in possible 
legal challenge.

Regular monitoring and 
review of the call-in and 
urgency provisions and 
their use.

CONTACT OFFICERS
Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, 
jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
Name of Background 
document

Where it is available

Call-in of Executive Decisions 
CEX/38 and CEX/39 – Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 15 
September 2017

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCalendarMont
hView.aspx?XXR=0&M=9&DD=2017&ACT=Go

Proposed Extension of 
Environmental Liability Insurance 
relating to 2012 Housing 
Transfer (Cabinet, 26 April 2017)

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=121&MId=4051 

2018/19 Budget Process Update 
Report (Cabinet, 25 October 
2017)

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=121&MId=4265 

TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

09/02/18 N/a 09/02/18 09/02/18 N/a

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

N/a N/a 09/02/18 09/02/18 09/02/18

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)

Comms Team Chairman of the 
O&S Committee

09/02/18 N/a N/a N/a 09/02/18

Page 50

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?XXR=0&M=9&DD=2017&ACT=Go
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?XXR=0&M=9&DD=2017&ACT=Go
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=4051
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=4051
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=4265
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=4265


South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018
ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CONSTITUTION

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Brenda Gray – Council Organisation and 
People Portfolio Holder

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer

WARDS: Not applicable

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME
1.1 This report is presented to enable Council to consider suggested changes to the 

Constitution as part of the annual review process.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION
2.1 It is recommended that Council:-

(1) approves the recommendations of the Constitution Review Working 
Group in relation to the Annual Review of the Constitution suggestions 
(1) to (4), as detailed at Appendix 1 to this report; and

(2) approves the combining of the Cabinet Reports and Cabinet Question 
Time and confirms the timeslot for this item;

(3) considers the additional recommendations from the constitution 
working group as set out at paragraph 3.4 and Appendix 1 

(3) notes the additional amendments that have arisen as part of the Annual 
Review of the Constitution as set out in paragraphs 3.5 to 3.7 of this 
report; 

(4) approves the recommendations from the Audit Committee, as detailed 
within Appendix 2 to this report;

(5) approves the changes to public participation at Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meetings and approves the amendments to the General 
Public Participation Scheme, as outlined within the report and as shown 
in Appendix 3; and

(6) approves the changes to the Council’s Petitions Scheme as shown in 
Appendix 5.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS
3.1 One of the duties of the Monitoring Officer is to monitor and review, on an annual 

basis, the operation of the Constitution to ensure that its aims and principles are 
given full effect.

Page 51

Item No.10



3.2 In undertaking the review, the Monitoring Officer has sought views of Members, 
Officers, parish councils and also the public, through the Council’s website, on any 
issues which they wished to raise with regard to the Constitution.

Constitution Review Working Group
3.3 The Constitution Review Working Group is made up of the Chairman and Vice-

Chairman of the Council, Council Organisation and People Portfolio Holder and 
Shadow Portfolio Holder, and the Labour Group Leader. The Group met on 7 
February 2018 to consider comments received and suggestions put forward as part 
of this process. The Group’s recommendations are attached at Appendix 1 to this 
report.

3.4 As set out in Appendix 1, suggestions (1) – (4) were supported by the Constitution 
Review Working Group. The Working Group was unable to reach a consensus 
regarding suggestion (5), regarding to the combining of the Composite Report of 
Cabinet (Portfolio Holder Reports) and Cabinet Question Time. Although the 
Constitution Review Working Group supported the principle of the proposal, there 
were some aspects that Members were unable to agree upon and instead made a 
series of recommendations; Council is asked to choose which of the following 
proposals, if any, it wishes to adopt:-

Time Limit Proposals

(1) 30 minutes; or

(2) 40 minutes

Additional Proposals

(3) Questions should be taken from the floor, when in relation to portfolio holder 
reports, prior to any written questions are taken as these are automatically subject to 
a written response if the time limit has expired prior to their being asked.

(4) The Cabinet Question Time item should be moved to earlier in the agenda, as 
the first substantive item.

Other amendments required
3.5 As part of the review it has become apparent that a previously approved delegation 

to the Director People and Places from the Licensing Regulatory Committee to 
revoke a private hire or hackney carriage drivers licence when immediate action is 
required to safeguard the public (25 August 2015, LR/13 refers) has been omitted 
from previous updates to the Constitution. The Constitution currently refers to a 
delegation to suspend; this will be updated to also refer to revocation as part of this 
update.

3.6 The Constitution includes a protocol on the use of mobile phones, social media, 
filming and recording at meetings. Paragraph 3.3 of that protocol states that:-

3.3 Councillors who are members of a meeting shall not be permitted to record, 
film, video or photograph the meeting. 

However, regulations introduced in 2014 amended the Local Government Act 1972 
and require that “……. while a meeting is open to the public, any person attending is 
to be permitted to report on the meeting”, and as such paragraph 3.3 is no longer 
appropriate. This paragraph will be removed as part of this update to the Constitution 
to bring the protocol up to date and whilst no other changes to the protocol are 
proposed at this time a full review will be considered later in the year.

Page 52



3.7 The Constitution currently includes the following definition of a key decision 
(paragraph 13.03(b) Part 2 of the Constitution):-

A key decision means an executive decision which, in relation to an executive 
function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more Wards of the 
Council (or one Ward in respect of two-Member Wards) and/or is likely to 
result in the Authority incurring expenditure or making savings above 
£100,000.

The change to three-member wards following the Further Electoral Review requires 
an amendment to this definition. Legislation currently defines a key decision as an 
executive decision which is likely to:-

(a)to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the 
making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant local 
authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

(b)to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in 
an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the 
relevant local authority.

A review found that this “two or more wards” definition, without exception or multi-
member wards, is used by all comparator authorities checked, regardless of their 
ward makeup. It is therefore proposed that the definition be amended as below:-

A key decision means an executive decision which, in relation to an executive 
function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more Wards of the 
Council (or one Ward in respect of two-Member Wards) and/or is likely to 
result in the Authority incurring expenditure or making savings above 
£100,000.

Audit Committee
3.8 The Audit Committee also conducts its own annual review of the Constitution. At its 

meeting on 6 December 2017, the Audit Committee recommended a number of 
minor changes to clarify that the Solicitor to the Council should be consulted before 
insurance claims are settled, that procurement exercises relating to insurance claims 
be carried out in accordance with the requirements of the insurer and that the 
Monitoring Officer should have delegation to approve virement of budgets relating to 
elections. In addition, the Audit Committee’s role in monitoring the expenditure of 
funds transferred from the South Lakeland District Council Royal Wedding Fund is no 
longer required and therefore Members recommended that this be removed from the 
Committee’s list of functions.

Public Participation
3.9 A review of the Council’s various public participation schemes has also been carried 

out. Due to a separate review of the Planning Committee’s Public Participation 
Scheme having recently taken place, this review focused upon the General Public 
Participation Scheme and public participation at Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meetings. The review sought to provide consistency and clarity for the public, 
members and officers.

3.10 The review made two primary proposals:- 

(1) that public participation at Overview and Scrutiny Committee be governed by 
the General Public Participation Scheme and the current individual scheme be 
removed from the Constitution; and

(2) that that the Planning Committee’s registration deadline of 00:01 two working 
days prior to the meeting be adopted within the General Public Participation Scheme.

Page 53



An additional paragraph was also added to better explain the public participation 
situation where call-ins are to be considered at meetings of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

3.11 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the findings of the review at its 
meeting on 2 February 2018 and recommended that Council approve the proposed 
changes. The proposed General Public Participation Scheme amendments can be 
found in Appendix 3 to this report. Subject to approval by Council, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will review these changes two years following implementation.

3.12 The Constitution Review Working Group supported the proposals and suggested two 
additional amendments to aid clarity. These were to paragraphs (i) and (r) and have 
been included within Appendix 3.

Petitions Scheme
3.13 Following a request received as part of the Annual Review of the Constitution 

consultation, a review of the Council’s Petition Scheme has been carried out using 
the same comparator authorities that have previously been used in the reviews of 
public participation schemes carried out by the Planning and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. The comparator information can be found in Appendix 4.

3.14 The request suggested attention be given to the number of signatures required, the 
timescales for submission and current best practice. The review has shown that the 
number of signatures currently required for each level of petition is broadly in line 
with those of the comparator authorities when adjusted for differing population 
figures. Similarly, much of the content of the Council’s Petitions Scheme appears to 
be in line with the current best practice displayed by those comparator authorities.

3.15 There are, however, some areas where it is felt that amendments would provide 
greater clarity, and a better customer service, to those wishing to submit a petition. 
These are:-

(1) Amending the deadline for submitting a petition to a meeting from the current 
five working days before, to ten working days before. This allows time for the petition 
to be verified and be included on the meeting agenda in accordance with Access to 
Information rules. The current deadline occurs after an agenda has been 
despatched, preventing Members from giving full consideration to any proposals 
before the meeting.

(2) Clarification regarding online petitions. The Council provides an e-Petitions 
facility which has been designed to meet the requirements set out elsewhere within 
the Petitions Scheme, however, the Council recognises that other online petition 
facilities are available. Additional wording is proposed to ensure that petition 
organisers are fully aware of the information they will be required to submit before 
starting an online petition elsewhere. In addition, the requirement for a “signature” to 
be provided to support a petition cannot easily be met online and, in line with many of 
the comparator schemes, this has been changed to a requirement for an individual’s 
email address. Signatures will continue to be required for paper petitions.

(3) Clarification regarding “meetings of the Council” and the Authority itself. The 
Petitions Scheme currently refers to “the Council” in a number of different ways, both 
in terms of the organisation itself and the public meeting of all 51 councillors. This 
can result in misunderstandings where petition organisers believe that a petition can 
only be presented to full Council, when they can also be presented to any of those 
meetings which fall under the General Public Participation Scheme.

3.16 These and other minor changes can be found in Appendix 5.

Page 54



4.0 CONSULTATION
4.1 Members, officers, parish councils and the public have been consulted as part of the 

Annual Review of the Constitution. The Audit Committee made its recommendations, 
attached at Appendix 2, at its meeting on 6 December 2017. The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee made its recommendations regarding the review of public 
participation, attached at Appendix 3, at its meeting on 2 February 2018.

4.2 The Constitution Review Working Group considered the proposals at Appendix 1 and 
Appendix 3 at its meeting on 7 February 2018 and supported the recommendations 
within.

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
5.1 Members could choose not to approve the changes as proposed, or to make 

amendments to the proposals.

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES
6.1 The Constitution underpins the Council’s decision-making processes in achieving the 

aims and objectives of the Council’s priorities.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial and Resources
7.1.1 There are no financial implications arising from the proposals contained within this 

report.

7.2 Human Resources
7.2.1 There are no human resource implications arising from the proposals contained 

within this report.

7.3 Legal
7.3.1 There are no legal implications arising from the proposals contained within this 

report. There is no legal obligation to allow public participation at meetings. The 
Council has agreed a scheme which allows public participation and this forms part of 
the Council’s Constitution.

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no health, social, economic or 
environmental impacts arising as a result 
of this report.

7.5 Equality and Diversity
Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis?

Yes ☐ No ☒

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons.

There are no equality and diversity 
impacts arising as a result of this report.

Page 55



7.6 Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
That the Constitution is not 
fit for purpose. 

There could be challenge 
to the Council’s decision 
making processes. 

Regular review and 
updating to reflect aims 
and principles and ensure 
that it meets any 
legislative requirements. 

CONTACT OFFICERS
Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, 
jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Anthea Lowe, Solicitor to the Council, anthea.lowe@southlakeland.gov.uk 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT
Appendix No.
1 Recommendations of the Constitution Review Working Group

2 Audit Committee Contribution to Review of the Constitution

3 Proposed changes to the General Public Participation Scheme

4 Petitions Scheme comparator information

5 Proposed changes to the Petitions Scheme

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE
Name of Background 
document

Where it is available

Constitution http://tinyurl.com/gth4cva 

Review of Constitution (Audit 
Committee 6 December 2017)

AUD/43 https://tinyurl.com/ycatr6fk 

Review of the Council’s Public 
Participation Schemes 
(Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 2 February 2018)

O&S/62 https://tinyurl.com/ybmdn9va 

Current Public Participation 
Schemes and Use of Mobile 
Phones, Social Media, Filming 
and Recording at Meetings 
Policy

https://tinyurl.com/ydahpxtp

Page 56

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:anthea.lowe@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://tinyurl.com/gth4cva
https://tinyurl.com/ycatr6fk
https://tinyurl.com/ybmdn9va
https://tinyurl.com/ydahpxtp


TRACKING INFORMATION
Assistant 
Director

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee

26/02/2018 01/03/2018 26/02/2018 01/03/2018 N/A

Executive 
(Cabinet)

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer

Monitoring 
Officer

N/A N/A 26/02/2018 26/02/2018 26/02/2018

Human 
Resources 
Manager

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)

Comms Team Constitution 
Review Working 
Group

N/A N/A N/A N/A 08/03/2018

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



CONSTITUTION REVIEW WORKING GROUP – SUGGESTIONS RECEIVED

Suggestion Monitoring Officer Comment Constitution Review Working Group 
Comments

Requires 
action by

(1) Financial Services Manager
A number of changes have been proposed to the 
Finance Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure 
Rules.

These relate primarily to amended financial limits 
and delegations to officers.  The proposed changes 
can be found in Annex 1 to this table.

These are minor tweaks to add clarity to the 
processes.

The proposals were supported. Council

(2) Solicitor
Suggested addition to aid transparency:-

5.A.1.3.[w] To the Director People and 
Places

Power to designate persons pursuant 
to Section 53(c) Anti-social Behaviour 
Crime and Policing Act 2014.

This will add clarity to the process. This proposal was supported. Council

(3) Cllr Stephen Coleman, Vice-Chairman of the 
Council:-
The issue I wish to raise relates to page 213 of the 
Constitution on the topic of the "Chairman's 
Protocol" and specifically to Item 4 - Wearing the 
Vice-Chairman’s Chain.

I am proud to be elected as the Vice Chairman of 
the Council and believe that I should wear my 
Chain of office at Full Council and at any Civic 
functions. The Chain of office identifies me in my 
role and allows people to recognise me in this 
important role.

I would like us to change the Constitution so that 
the Vice Chairman may wear his Chain of office at 
Full Council and at Civic functions (unless 
requested by the Chairman not to do so).

The role of the Vice-Chairman is to support the 
Chairman of the Council, and the protocol was 
adopted to help in carrying out these roles.

The Monitoring Officer would welcome feedback 
from Members on the matter.  

The proposals were supported. Council

Appendix 1

P
age 59



CONSTITUTION REVIEW WORKING GROUP – SUGGESTIONS RECEIVED
Suggestion Monitoring Officer Comment Constitution Review Working Group 

Comments
Requires 
action by

(4) Principal Performance and Intelligence 
Officer
As the document no longer exists, the Five Year 
Strategy can be removed from the Council’s Policy 
Framework (Article 4 of the Constitution).

This will ensure that the list of policies and 
strategies within the Policy Framework is up-to-
date and accurate. The Council Plan sets out the 
visions, strategy and actions of the Council,

The proposal was supported. Monitoring Officer

(5) Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer)
In order to provide greater clarity to Members and 
the avoidance of confusion surrounding which 
agenda item is the most appropriate for questions 
to portfolio holders, it has been suggested that the 
“Composite Report of the Cabinet” (portfolio holder 
reports) and “Leader’s Announcements and 
Cabinet Question Time” agenda items be 
combined into a single item at those relevant 
meetings. Portfolio holder reports would continue 
to be presented three times a year. Cabinet 
Question Time would continue to be included on 
the agendas of all ordinary meetings.

As the two agenda items will be reduced to one, it 
is being proposed that the 30 minute time limit 
applied to Cabinet Question Time be extended to 
40 minutes at those meetings when portfolio holder 
reports are also to be considered.

This will ensure clarity around procedure for 
cabinet question time and receiving of Portfolio 
reports and is recommended to Council  

Comments to additional proposals from the 
Constitution Review Working Group:-

Time Limit - Members are asked to approve the 
time limit for the combined item that they feel 
most appropriate. Cabinet Question Time does 
not always fill the current 30 minute time limit, and 
therefore could accommodate a combined item if 
Members prefer this option.

Written Question – there is the potential for 
written questions not to be reached if questions 
from the floor take priority.  Written questions 
provide some structure to the proceedings.

Cabinet Question Time – the current agenda 
prioritisation works well and has the flexibility to 
allow movement of agenda items in situations 
where there is a clear interest at the meeting in 
doing so. If Members wish to move the item to 
earlier in the agenda, it is recommended that the 
impact of this is regularly reviewed.

The Constitution Review Working Group were 
in support of the principle behind this 
suggestion but was unable to reach a 
consensus in some areas. The Constitution 
Review Working Group recommends that any 
changes in respect of this proposal be 
reviewed after a period of twelve months.

The Constitution Review Working Group 
instead made a series of recommendations; 
Council is asked to choose which of the 
following proposals, if any, it wishes to 
adopt:-

Time Limit Proposals
(1) 30 minutes; or
(2) 40 minutes

Additional Proposals
(1) Questions should be taken from the 
floor, when in relation to portfolio holder 
reports, prior to any written questions are 
taken as these are automatically subject to a 
written response if the time limit has expired 
prior to their being asked.

(2) The Cabinet Question Time item 
should be moved to earlier in the agenda, as 
the first substantive item.

Council

P
age 60



CONSTITUTION REVIEW WORKING GROUP – SUGGESTIONS RECEIVED

The following suggestion was submitted as part of the Annual Review of the Constitution. Due to the range of changes arising, the outcomes of the reviews of 
the petitions and public participation schemes are dealt with separately within the report.

Suggestion Monitoring Officer Comment Constitution Review Working Group 
Comments

Requires 
action by

Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation 
Portfolio Holder:-

I think the year has highlighted a couple of areas 
that could do with some reconsideration as part of 
the next review of the constitution.

These are the procedures around:

1. Petitions and petitioning the Council and 
committees regarding the number of signatures 
required, timescales and current best practice

2. Public speaking at Council and 
committees particularly with regard to the time 
limits for applying to speak and again current best 
practice and guidance for speakers.

1. A review of the petition scheme has been 
undertaken by officers following the meeting of 
the Constitution Review Working Group. The 
outcomes of the review and any proposed 
changes have subsequently been circulated to 
the Working Group’s Members.

2. A review of the Council’s public participation 
schemes has been carried out by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and was considered at 
its meeting on Friday, 2 February.

1. Petitions – the findings of the review of the 
Petitions Scheme are supported.

2. Public Participation – the findings of the 
Review of the Council’s Public Participation 
Scheme, as agreed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, are supported. 
Additional changes to paragraphs (i) and (r) 
were proposed which have been included 
within Appendix 3 to the report.

Council

In addition, over the next few months, work will be undertaken to streamline the Constitution and its future administration. This will result primarily in changes to 
presentation, and no significant amendments to the content will be made.

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 62



Review of Constitution – Proposed changes from Financial Services Manager 

Finance Procedure Rules: 

6. Unspent Grants and Underspend Budgets

6.4 All requests for the carry forward of unspent budgets should be discussed with the Chief 
Finance Officer and the relevant Portfolio Holder should be consulted. The Assistant 
Director will be required to identify and explain the reasons for underspending. 

7. Virements

7.3 Virement can only be applied to direct expenditure.  It cannot be applied to the budget 
headings such as Capital Charges, Recharged Employees, Central Support Recharges, 
Departmental Recharges or Indirect Income.  In general, virement will not be allowed from 
employee budgets. 

Following consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, the responsible Assistant Director(s) 
shall be entitled to transfer budgets from within and between any one service to another 
up to a maximum limit of £60,000 per transfer. 

The Cabinet shall be entitled to transfer budgets from within and between any one service 
to another up to a limit of £100,000 per transfer. 

Beyond these limits, approval to transfers can only be given by full Council. 

The Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to transfer budgets within the Elections service 
without any financial limit. 

The Corporate Financial Monitoring process should be used for approval where 
appropriate. 

Virement requests must include details of the reason for the transfer and details of the 
impact on service delivery. 

26. Inventories

26.5 Where assets other than land and property are to be disposed of the relevant Assistant 
Director shall be required to ensure Best Consideration is obtained and shall be required to 
keep comprehensive records of the disposal. 

28. Amounts to be Written-Off

28.6 For debts which fall outside the categories stated in paragraphs 28.1 to 28.5 Cabinet 
approval will be required from Cabinet or the relevant Committee. This will be included in 
the Corporate Financial Monitoring process. 

30. Insurances

30.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall effect all insurance cover, where appropriate by 
completitive tendering, and negotiate and settle all claims in consultation with appropriate 
Assistant Directors and the Solicitor to the Council where necessary. 

Annex 1 

Page 63



Contract Procedure Rules 

3. Exemptions and Waivers  

3.2.1  Subject to UK and EU law any of these rules may be waived in consultation with the 
Procurement Team and the Chief Finance Officer.  Waivers should be included in the 
Procurement Schedule to be approved by Council as part of the budget setting process.  If 
this is not possible, waivers shall be approved by the Monitoring Officer where they are 
satisfied that to do so is justified in special circumstances and those special circumstances 
and the advantages and disadvantages of the alternative options are identified.  Waivers 
should be reported to the next meeting of the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the 
Council if over £100,000 or by the relevant Director as part of the Corporate Financial 
Monitoring process if less than £100,000  Waivers relating to insurance claims where the 
procurement requirements of the insurer have been followed will only need to be reported 
as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process even if over £100,000. 

25. Contract Formalities 

25.4.3 Payment terms which should normally state payment in arrears. However where payment 
in advance is necessary the rationale for this should be fully documented, and where 
payments in advance exceed £5,000 £10,000 a documented risk assessment must be 
approved by the relevant Assistant  Director unless the supply relates to computer 
software. 

 

Page 64



South Lakeland District Council 
Audit Committee  
6 December 2017 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTRIBUTION TO REVIEW OF 
CONSTITUTION

PORTFOLIO: Not applicable 

REPORT FROM: Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director Resources 
and Chief Finance Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen Smith - Financial Services Manager 

WARDS: Corporate Issue 

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 
1.1 This report is presented to update the Audit Committee on the results of the 

annual review of the Council’s Constitution for consideration by Audit 
Committee. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee note the proposals for changes 

to the Constitution. 
3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1  The Audit Committee Work Programme for 2017/18 includes an annual review 
of the Council’s Constitution.  This review concentrates on the areas of the 
constitution with a direct impact on the financial controls of the Council 
contained within the Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract Procedure 
Rules.  There is a separate review of the full Constitution carried out annually 
by the Monitoring Officer.  

3.2 There was a major re-write of these areas of the Constitution in December 2015 
which was approved separately by Council.  The current review has identified 
some very minor changes to clarify that the Solicitor to the Council should be 
consulted before insurance claims are settled, that procurement exercises 
relating to insurance claims are carried out in accordance with the requirements 
of the insurer and that the Monitoring Officer should have delegation to approve 
virement of budgets relating to elections.  It is proposed that these changes are 
included in the review of the Constitution being undertaken by the Monitoring 
Officer rather than form a separate set of changes for Council to consider. 

3.3 The Audit Committee’s role in monitoring the expenditure of funds transferred 
from the SLDC Royal Wedding Fund is no longer required and therefore it is 
proposed that this be removed from the Committee’s list of functions. 

Appendix 2

Page 65



4.0 CONSULTATION 
4.1 Officers have reviewed the existing Constitution.  Only minor changes are 

proposed which will be included in the Monitoring Officer’s annual review of 
the Constitution which is due to report to Council in March 2018. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 It is good practice to regularly review the Constitution to ensure a proper 
balance between operational efficiency and strong internal controls. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 
6.1 To develop and embed a high performance culture. 
7.0 IMPLICATIONS 
7.1 Financial and Resources 
7.1.1 This report has no direct financial implications 
7.2 Human Resources 
7.2.1 There are no direct human resources implications of this report. 
7.3 Legal 
7.3.1 There are no direct legal implications of this report. 
7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 
7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental Impact Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, 
please explain your reasons. 

Any update of the finance and 
contract procedure rules have 
no direct HSEE implications.   

7.5 Equality and Diversity 
7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis, please explain your reasons. 

The update of the finance and 
contract procedure rules have 
no direct equality and diversity 
impacts. 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Failure to review 
Constitution 
 
Failure to have 
effective delegation to 
officers in place 

Potential failings in the internal 
controls contained within the 
Constitution 
Potential delays in decision 
making 

A thorough review and 
assessment based on 
external guidance 

Page 66



 
CONTACT OFFICERS 
Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, 01539 793147, 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

None  

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background document Where it is available 
Constitution http://tinyurl.com/yb33epxf  

 
TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

22/11/17 n/a 22/11/17 n/a n/a 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

n/a 6/12/17 n/a 22/11/17 22/11/17 

Human Resource Services 
Manager 

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

n/a n/a n/a  

 

Page 67

http://tinyurl.com/yb33epxf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



General Public Participation Scheme 
 
(a) As part of its commitment to community governance and openness, South Lakeland District 
Council welcomes and encourages attendance and contributions by the public at its meetings. This is 
known as public participation. Information on when the Council, its Committees and the Cabinet 
meets can be found on the Council's website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Group. 
 
(b) Some meetings, e.g. Planning Committee, Licensing Sub-Committees and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee have separate procedures for public speaking.  The General Public Participation 
Scheme applies to the following meetings – 
 
 (i) Council (except the Annual Council meeting); 
 (ii) Cabinet; 
 (iii) Lake Administration Committee; 
 (iv) Licensing Regulatory Committee; 
 (v) Licensing Act Committee; and 
 (vi) Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
(c) Where there is no specific agenda item for public participation, any requests to speak are at 
the discretion of the Chairman. 
 
(d) In addition, any part of a meeting where it has been decided that the press and public should 
be excluded means that public participation cannot be included in the business. 
 
(e) Members of the public can make representations, put a question or present a petition to a 
meeting. (Petitioners should read the Council’s Petition Scheme.) However, it should be noted that 
public participants are not subject to the privilege rule and, therefore, individuals who take part should 
have regard to the laws governing defamation, libel and slander. 
 
(f) Public Participation is open to the following people: 
 

• a resident and/or elector of South Lakeland District; 
• a representative of a South Lakeland District based group or organisation; 
• a representative of a town or parish council within South Lakeland District; 
• a business ratepayer of South Lakeland District; or 
• anyone else, subject to the discretion of the Chairman. 

 
(g) Representations must relate to those issues which are the responsibility of the meeting to 
which they are to be made. For advice on this please contact the Committee Services Group. 
 
(h) Representations are not permitted where the issue relates to the circumstances of an 
individual, matters covered by legal or other proceedings or about a member of staff. 
 
(i) A period of 30 minutes is allotted at the start of each meeting to hear representations, but this 
can be extended at the discretion of the Chairman in situations where there is a clear public interest in 
participation. 
 
(j) Anyone wishing to make representations should contact the Committee Services Group 
before the start of the meetingno later than 00:01 (one minute past midnight) two working days before 
the meeting. Generally, speakers will be taken in the order that their requests to speak have been 
received with priority being given to requests in writing. 
 
(k) Requests should include name, address and contact telephone number and indicate if a 
question, petition or representation is being made. 
 
(l) The Council's Monitoring Officer reserves the right to omit or refuse a request which includes 
any matter which appears to be defamatory, frivolous, offensive or for any other legitimate reason. In 

Appendix 3 

Page 69

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


these cases, where time permits, the person concerned will be informed in writing of the reason for 
omission or refusal. 
 
(m) The Chairman has discretion to vary the time limits for speaking but generally, speakers are 
allowed up to three minutes to put their case. In order to speak on behalf of a group, you must provide 
the names of all those on whose behalf you will be speaking. Those speaking on behalf of a group 
may have up to five minutes in which to make representations. – although if they have submitted 
written authority to speak on behalf of a number of individuals, this can be extended to up to five 
minutes. This does not apply where the other individual is one of the following: 
 

• a family member 
• a partner 
• a business associate 
• a member of the same organisation 

 
The Chairman may refuse an individual’s application to speak if it becomes clear that they would be 
doubly represented at the meeting.  
 
Committee Services will acknowledge all requests to speak within two working days of receipt of that 
request. If your request is received outside of the Council's office hours, the date of receipt will be 
taken as the next working day. If you do not receive an acknowledgement either within this time frame 
or before the meeting if sooner, please call Committee Services who will be pleased to help. 
 
(n) Responses to representations are at the discretion of the Chairman and may (but not 
necessarily) take one of the following forms: 
 

• the Chairman or officers may answer any questions raised;  
• the issue may be discussed by Members under an agenda item; 
• the meeting can resolve that the matter should be referred to the appropriate Committee; or 
• the Chairman may decide that a written response is more appropriate. In this case, a written 

response will be given within 7 working days of the meeting. 
 
(o) A person who has spoken at one of the Council's meetings (e.g. Council, Cabinet, a 
committee or sub-committee meeting), may not speak for a period of six months on the same matter, 
or a related issue, at any subsequent meetings of the Council, Cabinet, committee or sub-committee, 
without the consent of the Chairman. 
 
(p) Any disruptive behaviour may result in the Chairman adjourning the meeting and/or the 
individual concerned being asked to leave. 
 
(q) The use of Social Media, filming, videoing, photographing or recording of Council meetings or 
other meetings which are open to the public is allowed, subject to the conditions of the Protocol 
governing the use of mobile phones, social media, filming and recording at meetings attached to the 
public participation guidelines in the Constitution. 
 
(r) The use of social media in formal meetings is permitted for members of the public, press and 
councillors, so long as this does not cause any disruption or disturbance. The Chairman’s decision on 
this point whether a disruption or disturbance is being caused is final. 
 
(s) To minimise disruption to others attending the meeting, all attendees including Councillors 
must ensure that their phone or other mobile devices are switched off or set to silent mode during the 
meeting. 
 
(t) All current Members of South Lakeland District Council and Co-optees on Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Lake Administration Committee have been granted a dispensation in 
circumstances when they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in relation to an agenda item, to 
make representations under the General Public Participation Scheme.  Such dispensation does not 

Page 70



apply to the remainder of the agenda item and upon completing his/her address the member will be 
required to leave the chamber for the remainder of the agenda item. 
 
(u) A Member or Co-Opted Member who due to private or ward activities has to declare bias and 
pre-determination in relation to an agenda item may utilise the General Public Participation Scheme 
and speak on such an agenda item subject to the requirement that upon completing his/her address 
the member will be required to leave the chamber for the remainder of the agenda item. 
 
(v) At any meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held to consider the call-in of an 
executive decision, all representations and questions must relate to the reasons for the call-in and 
must not address the wider context or original decision. For advice on this please contact Committee 
Services or the Monitoring Officer. Public participation at such meetings will be taken following the 
initial presentation by those calling-in the decision and the response from the decision-maker, and 
prior to the Committee’s debate. Petitions may not be submitted to meetings of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held to consider a call-in. 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72



PETITIONS SCHEME BENCHMARKING INFORMATION

Authority Population 
est.

Signatures 
required for 
Council 
debate 

Signatures 
required for 
senior officer 
evidence

Minimum 
number of 
signatures 
required

Actual 
signature 
required?

Deadline for 
submission 
prior to 
meeting

E-Petitions 
Accepted?

Notes

South 
Lakeland

103,700 1,000 500 30 Yes 5 working Yes (facility 
provided)

LGA COMPARATOR AUTHORITIES

Chichester 113,800 1,000 500 250 Paper 
petitions only

10 working 
days

Yes Signing an e-
Petition 
requires a form 
of unique 
identification

Craven 55,400 550 275 25 Yes Not specified Yes (Council 
facility only)

Eden 52,600 520 520 10 Yes 10 working 
days

Yes (facility 
provided)

Fylde Fylde Borough Council does not currently operate a petitions scheme

North Devon 93,700 1,000 20 20 Paper 
petitions only

10 working 
days

Yes (Council 
facility only)

North Norfolk 101,500 1,500 750 If ward-specific, 
10% of ward 
population

Paper 
petitions only

10 working 
days

Yes by email Email address 
required for e-
Petition 
signature

South Hams 83,100 4,155* 4,155* Not specified Yes 15 working 
days

Yes (Council 
facility only)

*(5% of 
population)

Appendix 4

P
age 73



PETITIONS SCHEME BENCHMARKING INFORMATION

Authority Population 
est.

Signatures 
required for 
Council 
debate 

Signatures 
required for 
senior officer 
evidence

Minimum 
number of 
signatures 
required

Actual 
signature 
required?

Deadline for 
submission 
prior to 
meeting

E-Petitions 
Accepted?

Notes

CIPFA NEAREST NEIGHBOURS

Cotswold 82,900 850 425 50 Yes 10 working 
days

Yes

Derbyshire 
Dales

71,100 700* 700* 10 No 10 working 
days

Yes (Council 
facility only)

*(or 150 where 
the issue 
relates to no 
more than 2 
electoral 
Wards).

East Devon 132,500 1,500 750 25 Yes Not specified Not specified

Purbeck 45,000 450 (1%) 225 Not specified Paper 
petitions only

Not specified Yes (previous 
facility no 
longer 
available)

Ryedale 51,700 2,675* 1,605* 100 Paper 
petitions only

10 working 
days

Yes (Council 
facility only)

*(1,000 and 
500 
respectively 
where the 
petition relates 
to an issue 
affecting no 
more than two 
wards) 

Suffolk 
Coastal

124,300 1,200 600 50 Yes Not specified Yes

Teignbridge No information provided
West Dorset 99,300 1,000 750 20 No 10 working 

days
Yes

Appendix 4

P
age 74



PETITIONS SCHEME 
 
The petitions process allows members of the public to have direct influence on the political process 
and to raise concerns that are important to them. A petition is defined as a communication in writing 
or using an electronic facility which is signed by the appropriate number of qualifying persons. 
 
1. Types of petitions 
 
Essentially there are three types of petitions: 
 
“Ordinary” petitions 
 
These must be signed by at least 30 people but the Council Authority will use its discretion where 
there are fewer than 30 signatories in cases where there is clear local support for action (e.g. where 
all the residents of an isolated community have petitioned for action on an issue of local concern). 
 
Petitions requiring debate 
 
Petitions which contain 1,000 signatures or more will be debated by the Full Council. (see section 6 
for more information) 
 
Petitions to hold a Senior Council Officer to account 
 
Petitions which call for evidence from a Senior Council Officer and have at least 500 signatures will 
trigger that response. (see section 7 for more information) 
 
2. What sort of issues can be the subject of a petition? 
 
Members of the public can submit petitions on the following: 
 

• Issues relating to the Council's Authority's responsibilities 
• Issues which affect the District of South Lakeland or communities in the area, as long as the 

Council Authority is a position to exercise some degree of influence. 
• Anything relating to an improvement in the economic, social or environmental well-being of the 

District to which any of the Council's Authority’s partners could contribute 
 
The Council Authority will respond to all the petitions it receives and we will be as flexible as we can 
when handling your petition so that it is considered quickly and in the most appropriate way. 
 
Before submitting a petition you should first check with your local Councillor or with the Council 
Authority to see if the Council is we are already acting on your concerns and that the District Council 
is the most appropriate body to receive your petition as sometimes your petition may be more 
appropriate for another public body such as the County Council. 
 
All petitions sent or presented to the Authority will receive an acknowledgement within ten working 
days of receipt. This acknowledgement will set out what we plan to do with the petition. 
 
Paper petitions can be sent to the Committee Services Team (contact details are available at the end 
of this guidance). 
 
Or Petitions can also be created, signed and submitted online by following this link:- 
 
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgepetitionlistdisplay.aspx?bcr=1&$lo$=1  
 
Petitions can be presented to a meeting of the Full Council, Cabinet, Lake Administration Committee, 
Licensing and Licensing Regulatory Committees or the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The dates 
and times of these meetings can be found on www.southlakeland.gov.uk. If you would like to present 

Appendix 5 

Page 75

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgepetitionlistdisplay.aspx?bcr=1&$lo$=1
http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


your petition to the Councila meeting, or would like your Councillor to present it on your behalf, please 
contact the Committee Services Team in writing (email committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk) at 
least five ten working days before the meeting. If you would like to discuss this please contact the 
Committee Services Team and they will talk you through the process. 
 
Who can submit a petition? 
 
Anyone who lives, works or studies in the District of South Lakeland, including under-18s, can sign or 
organise a petition. 
 
3. What are the guidelines for submitting a petition? 
 
Petitions submitted to the Council must include: 
 

• A clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition. It should also state what 
action the petitioners wish the Council to take. 

• The name, address (including postcode) and signature of any person supporting the a paper 
petition. 

• The name, address (including postcode) and email address of any person supporting an 
online petition. 

 
Where a person supporting a petition does not live within South Lakeland, they must indicate whether 
they work or study within the District and the South Lakeland address to which this applies in order to 
meet the requirements set out in paragraph 2 above. 
 
Petitions should be accompanied by contact details, including an address, for the petition organiser. 
This is the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to the petition. The contact details of 
the petition organiser will not be placed on the website. Petitions which do not identify a petition 
organiser will not be accepted. 
 
Petitions which are considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate will not be 
accepted. If a petition does not follow the guidelines set out above, the Council Authority may decide 
not to do anything further with it. In that case, we will write to you to explain the reasons. 
 
4. What will the Council do when it receives my petition? 
 
An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 10 working days of receiving the 
petition. It will let them know what we plan to do with the petition and when they can expect to hear 
from us again. It will also be published on our website. 
 
If we can do what your petition asks for, the acknowledgement may confirm that we have taken the 
action requested and the petition will be closed. If the petition has enough signatures to trigger a Full 
Council debate, or a senior officer giving evidence, then the acknowledgement will confirm this and 
tell you when and where the meeting will take place. If the petition needs more investigation, we will 
tell you the steps we plan to take. 
 
If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, is a statutory petition (e.g. requesting a 
referendum on having an elected mayor), or on a matter where there is already a right of appeal, such 
as Council Tax banding and non-domestic rates, other procedures apply. Further information on all 
these procedures and how you can express you express your views is available on 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk.  
 
We will not take action on any petition which we consider to be vexatious (annoying), abusive or 
otherwise inappropriate and will explain the reasons for this in our acknowledgment of the petition. 
 
To ensure that people know what we are doing in response to the petitions we receive, the details of 
all the petitions submitted to us will be published on our website, except in cases where this would be 
inappropriate. Whenever possible we will also publish all correspondence relating to the petition 
(personal details will be removed). When you sign an e-petition you can elect to receive this 

Page 76

mailto:committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


information by email. We will not send you anything which is not relevant to the e-petition you 
have signed, unless you choose to receive other emails from us. 
 
5. How will the Council respond to petitions? 
 
Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many people have signed 
it, but may include one or more of the following: 
 

• Taking the action requested in the petition 
• Considering the petition at a Council, Cabinet or committee meeting 
• Holding an inquiry into the matter 
• Undertaking research into the matter 
• Holding a public meeting 
• Holding a consultation 
• Holding a meeting with petitioners 
• Referring the petition for consideration by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee* 
• Calling a referendum 
• Writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the request in the petition 

 
*The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is a Committees of Councillors who are responsible for 
scrutinising the work of the Council – in other words, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the 
power to hold the Council’s decision makers to account. 
 
In the vast majority of cases your petition will be submitted to one of the Council’s formal meetings 
where elected councillors will decide how to respond to the petition.  These meetings will be held in 
public and petitioners are welcome to attend the meeting to observe the proceedings.  The petition 
organiser will be entitled to briefly address the meeting. 
 
Depending on the subject matter your petition will be submitted to either the Full Council, the Cabinet 
or the Council’s Lake Administration Committee, Licensing and Licensing Regulatory Committees or 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  There are two exceptions to this: 
 

• If your petition contains more than 1,000 signatures then it must be debated by the Full 
Council. 

• If your petition is asking for a Senior Council Officer to give evidence at a public meeting then 
it will be considered by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee provided it contains at 
least 500 signatures. 

 
In addition to these steps, the Council Authority will consider all the specific actions it can potentially 
take on the issues highlighted in a petition. The table below gives some examples. 
 

Petition subject Appropriate steps 
Alcohol related crime 
and disorder 

If your petition is about crime and disorder linked to alcohol 
consumption, the Council will, among other measures, consider the 
case for placing restrictions on public drinking in the area by 
establishing a designated public places order or, as a last resort, 
imposing an alcohol disorder zone. When an alcohol disorder zone is 
established the licensed premises in the area where alcohol related 
trouble is being caused are required to contribute to the costs of extra 
policing in that area. The Council’s response to your petition will set 
out the steps we intend to take and the reasons for taking this 
approach. 
 

Anti-social behaviour As the elected representative of your local area, as social landlord and 
licensing authority, the Council plays a significant role in tackling anti-

Page 77



Petition subject Appropriate steps 
social behaviour. The Council, in conjunction with other partners in the 
South Lakeland Community Safety Partnership have set out minimum 
service standards for responding to issues of anti-social behaviour. 
 

 
If your petition is about something over which the Council Authority has no direct control e.g. the local 
railway or hospital) we will aim to make representations on behalf of the community to the relevant 
body. The South Lakeland District Council works with a large number of local partners and where 
possible will work with these partners to respond to your petition. If we are unable to do this for any 
reason (e.g. if what the petition calls for conflicts with Council our policy), then we will set out the 
reasons for this to you. You can find out more information on the services for which the Council is we 
are responsible on our website www.southlakeland.gov.uk. 
 
If your petition is about something that a different council is responsible for, we will give consideration 
to what is the best method for responding to it. It might consist of simply forwarding the petition to the 
other council, but could involve other steps. In any event we will always notify you of the action we 
have taken. 
 
6. Full Council Debates 
 
If a petition contains more than 1,000 signatures it will be debated by Full Council unless it is a 
petition asking for a Senior Council Officer to give evidence at a public meeting. This means that the 
issue raised in the petition will be discussed at a meeting which all Councillors can attend. The 
petition organiser will be given five minutes to present the petition at the meeting and the petition will 
then be discussed by Councillors for a maximum of 15 minutes. The Full Council will decide how to 
respond to the petition at this meeting. They may decide to take the action the petition requests, not to 
take the action requested for reasons put forward in the debate, or to commission further investigation 
into the matter, for example by a relevant committee. The petition organiser will receive written 
confirmation of the decision. This confirmation will also be published on the website. 
 
7. Officer Evidence 
 
Your petition may ask for a Senior Council Officer to give evidence at a public meeting about 
something for which the Officer is responsible as part of their job e.g. your petition may ask a Senior 
Council Officer to explain progress on an issue, or to explain the advice given to elected Members to 
enable them to make a particular decision. 
 
If your petition contains at least 500 signatures, the relevant Senior Officer will give evidence at a 
public meeting of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The list of senior staff that can be 
called to given evidence is below: 
 

• Chief Executive 
• Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 
• Director of People and Places 
• Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

 
You should be aware that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may decide that it would be more 
appropriate for another Officer to give evidence instead of any Officer named in the petition – for 
instance, if the named Officer has changed jobs. Committee Members will ask the questions at this 
meeting, but you will be able to suggest questions to the Chair of the Committee by contacting the 
Solicitor to the Council, up to three working days before the meeting. 
 
After the meeting the Committee will submit a report to the authority within 14 working days and this 
report will be considered at the next meeting of the authority.  The petition organiser will receive a 
copy of this report. 
 
8. Are there any petitions which the Council cannot accept? 

Page 78

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 
We believe that the vast majority of petitions we receive will be accepted but in certain circumstances 
petitions may not be accepted, including:- 
 

• If the petition applies to a planning application, is a statutory petition (for example requesting a 
referendum on having an elected mayor), or on a matter where there is already an existing 
right of appeal or a separate complaints process 

• Any petition which we consider to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate. We will 
explain the reasons for this in our acknowledgement of the petition. 

• Where a person or organisation (or someone on their behalf) has submitted a petition which is 
the same or substantially the same as one submitted within the previous 12 months 

 
If we decide that a petition is not acceptable then we will let the petition organisers know our reasons. 
 
9. E-petitions 
 
The Council Authority welcomes e-petitions which are created and submitted through our website. All 
E-petitions must follow the same petition guidelines as paper petitions (see above) set out above. If a 
petition organiser wishes to use an e-petition facility not administered by the Council, they must 
ensure that the chosen system will allow the correct information to be provided for it to be accepted. If 
you are unsure please contact Committee Services.  
 
The petition organiser will need to provide us with their name, postal address and email address. You 
will also need to decide how long you would like your petition to be open for signatures. Most petitions 
run for six months, but you can choose a shorter or longer timeframe, up to a maximum of 12 months. 
 
When you create an e-petition, it may take five working days before it is published online. This is 
because we have to check that the content of your petition is suitable before it is made available for 
signature. 
 
If we feel we cannot publish your petition for some reason, we will contact you within this time to 
explain. You will be able to change and resubmit your petition if you wish. If you do not do this within 
ten working days, a summary of the petition and the reason why it has not been accepted will be 
published under the “rejected petitions” section of the website. 
 
When an e-petition has closed for signature, it will automatically be submitted to the Committee 
Services Team. In the same way as a paper petition, you will receive an acknowledgement within ten 
working days. If you would like to present your e-petition to a meeting of the Council, please contact 
the Committee Services Team within five days of the petition closing and at least ten working days 
before the relevant meeting, whichever is the earlier. 
 
A petition acknowledgement and response will be emailed to everyone who has signed the e-petition 
and elected to receive this information. The acknowledgment and response will also be published on 
the Council’s website. 
 
10. How do I “sign” an e-petition? 
 
You can see all the e-petitions currently available for signature on the Council’s website. 
 
When you sign an e-petition you will be asked to provide your name, postcode and a valid email 
address. When you have submitted this information you will be sent an email to the email address you 
have provided.  This email will include a link which you must click on in order to confirm the email 
address is valid. Once this step is complete your “signature” will be added to the petition. People 
visiting the e-petition will be able to see your name in the list of those who have signed it but your 
contact details will not be visible. 
 
11. What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly? 
 

Page 79



If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition organiser has the right to 
request that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviews the steps that the Council Authority has 
taken in response to your petition. 
 
The Committee will consider your request within 30 days of receiving it. Should the Committee 
determine we have not dealt with the petition adequately, it may use any of its powers to deal with the 
matter. These powers include instigating an investigation, making recommendations to the Executive 
and arranging for the matter to be considered at a meeting of the Full Council. 
 
Once the appeal has been considered the petition organiser will be informed of the results within five 
working days. The results of the review will also be published on our website. 
 
12. Is there anything else I can do to have my say? 
 
The South Lakeland District Council recognises that petitions are just one way in which people can let 
us know about their concerns. There are a number of other ways in which you can have your say 
including asking questions at Council meetings and through the Council’s complaints system. 
 
If you have any queries on the Petitions Scheme please contact:- 
 
Committee Services Team 
South Lakeland District Council 
South Lakeland House 
Lowther Street 
Kendal 
LA9 4UQ 
 
Telephone 01539 733333 
Email – committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 
 

Page 80

mailto:committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk


South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018
EXECUTIVE REPORT – END OF YEAR 2017/18

REPORT FROM: Cllr Giles Archibald – Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder

Portfolio Responsibilities

The development of strategic policy to ensure that the Council has put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources i.e. 
Value for Money. 
To ensure that the Council has proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience. 
Working with partners and stakeholders in the public, private and voluntary sector, at national, 
regional and sub-regional level. To act as an ambassador and advocate for the Communities 
of South Lakeland. 
To represent the Council on local and other strategic partnerships including nominated 
representative on the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership as appropriate.

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 Budget Framework 
 Procurement Strategy 
 Asset Management Strategy 
 Discretionary Benefit and Rate Relief Polices 
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Key Areas: 

 Strategic Finance 
 Budget Monitoring 
 Treasury Management 
 Capital Programme 
 Value for Money 
 Procurement 
 Savings Programme 
 Payments and Sundry Debtors 
 Insurance and Risk Management 
 Benefits Administration 
 Council Tax Collection 
 Local and Cumbria Wide Strategic Partnerships 
 Relationships with Government Departments and other relevant authorities at a sub-

regional, regional and national level

Page 81

Item No.11



Medium Term Financial Strategy

The draft Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which includes the Council’s Financial 
Strategy, looks at projected income and expenditure over the next five years.  Council 
approved the last complete draft in July 2017. The updated position was included in the Budget 
Report considered by Council on the 27 February 2018. The plan highlights the uncertainty 
around future funding since the planned 100% localisation of business rates has been deferred 
by the Government but the Fair Funding review, which will determine how much business rate 
income will be retained by the Council in the future to fund services, appears to be continuing.  
The assumptions and financial projections within the MTFP are kept under continuous review. 
The next complete update of the MTFP is planned for July 2018. 

Procurement Strategy

The Council’s Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 2016-2019 sets the 
framework for South Lakeland District Council (‘the Council’) to purchase goods, services, and 
works to deliver value for money and to meet the needs of local citizens. It incorporates the 
most appropriate elements of best practice in structure, policy and procedure, and will remain 
sufficiently flexible to respond to both internal and external change.  Council approved a 
Procurement Schedule as part of the budget papers in February 2018. This delivers Council 
services in accordance with the Procurement Strategy.  Any proposed changes to the 
schedule will be reported as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process to Overview 
and Scrutiny, Cabinet and Council.  

Strategic Finance

Officers prepared the Council’s statutory accounts, the Statement of Accounts, by the end of 
May 2017.  This is a month earlier than in previous years and was an opportunity to prove the 
timetable was achievable before the statutory deadline for preparation moves to May from 
2017/18 accounts onwards.  The external audit of the 2016/17 accounts has been completed 
and considered by and reported to the September Audit Committee. The outcome was 
extremely positive both with regard to the quality of the accounts and the Value for Money the 
Council is judged to be delivering. For the 2017/18 accounts the external audit must be 
concluded by the end of July.  

Budget Monitoring

Although budget monitoring continues all year, the composite Corporate Financial Monitoring 
report commences from Quarter 2. Quarters 2 and 3 have considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet during the year. Both Revenue and Capital show significant 
underspends but the majority relate to budgets carried forward to the current financial year by 
Council in May 2017, and future carry forwards. 

Treasury Management

Updates are provided as part of the aforementioned Financial Monitoring and Budget reports.  

Capital Programme

The MTFP includes a Capital Strategy which sets out the sources of funding of capital 
expenditure, any restrictions on how that funding should be applied and the process for 
considering new bids for the capital programme.  All schemes in the existing programme were 

Page 82



reviewed as part of the budget process to ensure they continue to reflect the Council Plan 
priorities.

Savings Programme

The majority of the savings incorporated into the budget for 2017/18 and later years relate to 
the Customer Connect programme.  Progress in delivering these and other savings is 
incorporated into the Corporate Financial Monitoring and Budget reports.

Revenue and Benefits 
The Revenue’s and Benefits Service has gone live with the replacement back office Capita 
Software. The second phase of the project to deliver a digital solution for residents is due to 
implemented over the next 6 months. This will see residents been able to access their 
information and records on-line. In addition a full set of interactive processes will be available 
including the ability for customers to make arrangements, apply for discounts and notify 
changes in circumstance electronically direct into our new back office systems.

Annual billing has been completed utilising the new software with the support of Capita.

Benefits Administration

Performance of the benefits team continued to be sustained at a high level right up to the 
implementation of the new software. Both New Claims and Changes in Circumstances for both 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction being processed within the target times contained 
in the service plan. The downtime and software change coupled with year-end has lead to 
inevitable slowing in the processing times. This should be caught in the next couple of months.

Rollout of Universal Credit has been suspended until the roll out of the full live service. This 
means we are currently back receiving new claims for Housing Benefits from all new 
claimants.

Full Live Service roll-out in South Lakeland was been announced in November. Roll-out is 
now July 2018 (Western Areas served by Barrow Job Centre Plus) and September 2018 for 
the rest of the district.

Council Tax Collection 

Council Tax collection at the end of Q3 was ahead of target at 86.18% for the first 9 months 
of the year, last year was 86.14%. This result is very positive given the work been undertaken 
on the software conversion. It is envisaged that collection rates will fall in Q4 due to the 
software changeover.

NNDR Collection 

Collections of Business Rates are 0.2% below last year’s collection figures. At the end of 
December 2017 collection rates stood at 82.35%.

There has been a continued increase in the number of businesses paying over 12 months 
rather than 10.

The Small Business Relief Scheme and Pub Relief Scheme been fully implemented and 
customers rebilled. The council Discretionary scheme has seen over £ 300k of additional 
support being provided to businesses in South Lakeland, a reminder has issued to those 
businesses who have yet to apply for this support.

Page 83



Fraud

The Council remains pro-active in tackling fraud. This involves working closely with the DWP 
on Housing Benefit Fraud. We have also been actively involved in prosecuting fraud arising 
from the Flood Resilience Grant Scheme.

The Council remains pro-active in tackling fraud.  This involves working closely with the DWP 
on Housing Benefit fraud.  The Council have also signed up to a joint working arrangement 
with DWP to prosecute Council Tax Reduction as part of a joint investigation. 

Fraud has achieved a number of successful prosecutions in relation to the Flood Grant 
Scheme. Fraud assist South Lakes Housing with RTB application checks in order to comply 
with Anti-Money Laundering responsibilities.

The Council also takes part in the Cabinet Office National Fraud Initiative data matching 
exercises and will continue to do so.

Working across various departments in The Council to put anti-fraud measures in place.

New starters to the Council attend Fraud training as part of the induction process. 

Local and Cumbria Wide Strategic Partnerships/ Relationships with Government 
Departments and other relevant authorities at a sub-regional, regional and national 
level

SLDC have signed a partnership initiative with Barrow Borough Council and Lancaster City 
Council to create the Morecambe Bay Economic initiative. The aim of this initiative is too work 
in partnership with the other authorities to identify and exploit opportunities for economic 
investment and growth across the Morecambe Bay Area. 

SLDC continues to engage proactively with Cumbria County Council through a joint working 
group which encourages and promotes joint working between both authorities to deliver strong 
outcomes across the district. 

As Leader I also form part of the Cumbria Leaders Board where issues and projects are 
identified in order to support each other in delivering targets across Cumbria. SLDC are 
continuing to engage with the Cumbria LEP to influence developing the visitor economy and 
other regional projects. 

SLDC also continue to raise concerns to government offices on issues that cause concern for 
the district.

Local and Cumbria Wide Strategic Partnerships/ Relationships with Government 
Departments and other relevant authorities at a sub-regional, regional and national 
level

In 2017 SLDC signed a partnership initiative with Barrow Borough Council and Lancaster City 
Council to create the Morecambe Bay Economic initiative. The aim of the initiative is too work 
in partnership with the other authorities to identify and exploit opportunities for economic 
investment and growth across the Morecambe Bay Area.

Throughout 2017/18 SLDC has proactively engaged with Cumbria County Council through a 
Joint Working Group with the aim to encourage and promote joint working between both 
authorities. 

Page 84



As Leader of the Council I sit on the Cumbria Leaders Board where issues effecting Cumbria 
are discussed and projects and support identified to support all the authorities in delivering 
targets. 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018

EXECUTIVE REPORT – END OF YEAR 2017/18

REPORT FROM: Cllr Jonathan Brook – Deputy Leader and Housing and 
Innovation Portfolio Holder  

Portfolio Responsibilities

Implementing the Local Plan and Council Plan housing objectives. 

Working in partnership to improve the standard, availability and affordability of housing in the 
District to meet local needs, championing these issues at national, regional and sub-regional level. 

The Council Plan objectives in relation to improved customer engagement and communication. 

Looking at innovative ways of working. 

To support the Leader of the Council and to deputise in his/her absence. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies: 

 Local Plan (Including Development Management Policies) 
 Housing Strategy and Policy (Including Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy) 
 Customer Charter and Contact Strategy 
 IT/ Information/ E Government Strategy 

Key Areas: 

 Local Plan
 Strategic Housing and delivery (Including Housing Enabling and Housing Grants) 
 Development Management and Building Control 
 Housing Options and Homelessness Prevention 
 Customer Services 
 Customer Connect Programme 
 IT Services 

Page 87



Local Plan 
The AONB Local Plan was submitted for examination on February 28th. An Inspector has been 
appointed. We expect the hearings to take place in June If it is found sound and adopted, it will 
be the first Local Plan specifically for an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in the Country. 

Development Management Policies 
The Development Management Policies were also submitted on February 28th. They will be 
considered by the same inspector and the examinations will run sequentially. If these are found 
sound and adopted, they will introduce updated standards on accessibility and adaptability, 
broadband connectivity and new policies on development outside main settlements.

Development Briefs 
The last Development Brief will be adopted in April 2018. This means that the programme of 14 
briefs for major sites will be completed. The briefs are guiding planning applications on a number 
of sites.

Housing Strategy
In December 2017 Council approved a change in emphasis in our approach to affordable housing 
delivery from grants to loans and a potential loans facility of up to £6m. The financial and legal 
details of the scheme are in the process of being worked up,

A final figure will be known at the end of March but we estimate that we will have enabled 100 
affordable completions in 2017-18 of which we estimate that 80 will be to rent. These include the 
completion of schemes at Waterside, Kendal (14 homes) and the former St Andrews Youth 
Centre, Coniston (10 homes).
 
On the Community Housing Fund front, we have grant applications received for community-led 
housing schemes in Windermere, Levens and Helsington. Several other sites have been identified 
as potentially suitable for development; these are currently being further investigated.

Long-term empty homes (over 2 years) have been reduced from 982 in 2016/17 to 911 in 2017/18. 

A New Older Persons’ Housing Strategy is due to be (has been) considered by Cabinet 21 March.

Strategic Housing Market Assessment  
In November, Cabinet approved the updated Strategic Housing Market Assessment which 
updates the Councils evidence on housing needs and is one of the first steps in preparing the 
replacement Local Plan.

Homelessness 

The Homelessness Prevention Act will come into effect on 1st April. This is likely to increase 
significantly both the number of people to whom we owe a duty as homelessness prevention is 
now a statutory duty. It also introduces significant new process and responsibilities for both the 
service and its clients. The service has recruited two new staff and a new IT system has been 
procured.

Significant improvements have been completed to the Town View Fields hostel including better 
kitchen and bathroom facilities, adaptations to meet the needs of people with disabilities and 
greater control over client access to different parts of the hostel.

Page 88



Development Management and Building Control 
The Building Control and Development Management service processed and supported 
applications to a high performance standard level throughout 2017/18. 

Actual Building Control Income continues to exceed the budgeted expectations and it is 
anticipated that there might be a small surplus on the trading account and not the budgeted deficit.
Planning Income has not achieved budgeted expectations and expenditure has increased 
reflecting a necessary increased use of consultants to support decisions and appeals.

The managerial focus is currently on the joint Planning Digital Project, encompassing Building 
Control, with Eden District Council and reporting to the various project boards.  The system will 
be made live in the following stages:

 Building Control by 30 September 2018
 Planning by 31 January 2019
 Land Charges by 31 March 2019, though full implementation is not expected until the new 

Council wide Operating Model is completed.

In addition, the service resources are being examined in detail to reflect the improved efficiencies 
expected from the Digital Platform.  A fundamental Strategic Review of Building Control has been 
undertaken and a Cabinet decision was taken to retain the service “In-house”.

Customer Connect and IT Services 
The shared IT service with Eden District Council continues to support the Customer Connect 
Project through: 

 Inputting into the enhanced programme and project documentation and new governance 
arrangements 

 The creation of specification documents covering the Enterprise Solution Design of the 
EsbAgile Digital Platform

 Support in implementing a new revenue and benefits system – now live in both Eden 
and South Lakeland

 Implementing a new cloud based Geographical Information System and consoldidation 
of existing Geospatial Data

 Supporting the integration process between the digital platform (EsbAgile) from Meritec 
and a new digital portal for Revenue and Benefits

 Progress continues to prepare the data for migration  from existing Geographical 
Information Systems and the Development Management System 

 Leading on the recent Information Governance work performed by Inform Consult, to 
gain a head start on the compliance for the upcoming  General Data Protection 
Requirement legislation that comes into force in May 2018

 Support the procurement of a new Learning Management system
 Supported the development and implementation of the new website for SLDC and Eden
 Supported the development and implementation of the new CRM solution for SLDC and 

Eden
 Completed the integration between EsbAgile and the payment systems in both councils 

enabling online payments to be taken as part of an online transaction
 Completed the implementation of the new Land and Property Systems for both Councils
 Completed the implementation of Sharepoint for SLDC, training and development of staff 

on how to use the system continues.

Page 89



Other work that IT Services have been undertaking throughout 2017/18 includes:

 The completed roll out of 40 tablets for the Electoral Services Canvassing 
 The completion of installation of chip and PIN card payments where required for SLDC
 Completed upgrades to the HR and Finance systems to improve functionality and create 

‘single sign on’ to allow the systems to be accessed easier by staff
 Supported the project to improve the recruitment portal, specifically to improve the job 

application process
 Complete the build configuration for laptops and all applications to enable the upgrade to 

windows 10 for new laptops. 
 New laptops are now being issued which are much faster than their predecessors
 Support for the procurement of a new Homelessness System that is required to meet 

regulatory changes which come into force in April 2018
 The replacement of council phone lines with a cloud based telephone lines to provide 

flexibility and reduce costs will; be completed in February 2018
 Implementation of a new Microsoft Surface Hub in the finance training room to replace 

the old projector screen
 Implemented Information at work document management and work flow for Legal 

Services to help them reduce their dependency on paper
 Implemented information at work document management and work flow for procurement 

and contracts
 Enhanced budget management with the creation of a 10 year hardware replacement 

programme for both councils
 Replaced the remaining Thin Client devices in SLDC with Laptops

Page 90



South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018

EXECUTIVE REPORT – End of Year Update 2017/18

REPORT FROM: Cllr Brenda Gray - Council Organisation and People 
Portfolio Holder

Portfolio Responsibilities

The implementation and renewal of the Council Plan. 

The Council Plan objectives in relation to quality of service and high performance culture. 

The organisation of the Authority relating to the Council’s central services including Member 
Services and Employee relations. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies: 

 Council Plan (Incorporating the Five Year Strategy) 
 Performance Management 
 Equality Scheme 
 Emergency Plan
 Member Development and Training Plan 
 Workforce Plan 

Key Areas: 

 Community strategy/ area planning/ development of recovery group
 Emergency Planning 
 Performance Management 
 Legal and Committee Service and HR Services 
 Member Services 
 Member Training and Development 

Page 91



Council Plan (2018 Update) 
The 2018 update to the Council Plan was approved at Council on 19 December 2017 which set 
out the vision for South Lakeland supported by the four priorities. This has now been adopted 
across the organisation and shared with partners. 

The update incorporated the progress achieved over the last 12 months and details the key 
projects that contribute to achieving the four priority areas. The measures of success have been 
amended in the recent update to reflect progress and will continue to be reported on a quarterly 
basis.

A full review of the Plan for 2019 will commence after May 2018. This review will identify the key 
priorities and measures of success moving forward until 2024. 

Emergency Planning 
Throughout 2017/18 the Council has continued to monitor weather warnings to prepare for any 
potential incidences by receiving updates from the Environment Agency, Met Office Weather 
Warnings and participating in Cumbria Resilience Forum teleconferences. 

A ‘Community Resilience across South Lakeland’ document has been produced for all community 
resilience groups within South Lakeland. This document provides communities with links to 
established resilience tools and contact details for other established community resilience groups 
across South Lakeland. 

Performance Management
Council Plan performance monitoring have been reported each quarter throughout 2017/18. The 
Performance Management Framework and the Risk Management Process will be reviewed for 
annual updates in Quarter 4.

The main results include: 
 Of particular note is that the Council is on track to enable 1000 affordable homes for rent 

by 2025, with 359 new homes built since 1st Jan 2014. 

 Also the Council is on track to enable 1000 new jobs by 2025, with an estimated 381 new 
jobs created since 1st Jan 2014. 

 During 2017 Plastic and cardboard kerbside collections reached 98% of households.

Legal and Committee Services 
 
Legal and Committee Services have continued to provide advice and support across the 
organisation. 

During 2017/18 the Legal Services team have; 
 Successfully recovered significant outstanding sums due in relation to lake 

encroachments
 Undertaken a number of successful prosecutions in respect of fraudulent flood grant 

applications
 Introduced an electronic case management system for the day to day management of 

work

Page 92



 Provided training to members in respect of licensing, planning and code of conduct

Committee Services continue; 
 Increasing the number of Members who are now working paperless
 Organising and servicing a number of additional, high-profile meetings at short notice
 Increasing the level of Member engagement with the IRP process

The teams have either achieved or is on target to achieve all of the service plan targets except 
for two. One has been delayed at the request of the service area who requested the work, and 
the other links to a piece of work that will take place to ensure that the team is not duplicating 
work, a decision was made to delay that piece of work.

HR Services
HR Services has supported the Customer Connect Programme throughout 2017/18 with 
professional advice and expertise in relation to the people elements of the project. Following some 
issues raised in the staff survey, communications around Customer Connect programme have 
been further developed with a session for Operational Managers and Principals and focus groups 
with a cross section of employees to show how the new ways of working will support employees 
using their skills and abilities to the full and more local decision making to support the customer 
service of the council.

In 2017 a decision was made not to continue with the Investors in People accreditation.  Whilst 
this accreditation has been seen as a benchmark of good people management, the cost of 
accreditation continues to increase, the organisation has achieved Silver status. The Council will 
be continuing to invest in employees by exploring more innovative and relevant customer-facing 
accreditations throughout 2018/19. The existing employee working group is being retained to 
ensure that the ongoing employee development is supported across the organisation and this will 
be reflected in the action plan.

The new Employee Assistance Programme was launched on 1 October 2017, to provide a range 
of support mechanisms to employees and their families and includes 24/7 counselling services, 
legal and consumer information services, financial and debt management, serious illness and 
accident support, health and wellbeing resources to support healthy lifestyles etc. The provision 
of the Employee Assistance Programme is a positive addition to the employee benefits package 
and it is designed to support the health and wellbeing of our employees, however it also delivers 
benefits to the Council as an employer, through reduced absence and increased productivity.

Member Services/ Training Development 
Following the successful award of the North West Charter Level 1 in October 2017, work is due 
to commence to achieve the Level 2 Scrutiny award in next upcoming months. 
The Level 2 award is looking at how training and development has impacted on the work of the 
Council and its decision making, particularly in community development and robust decision 
making. 

There has been a number of member training events completed and scheduled across 2017/18 
and the Member training programme for 2018/19 has been reviewed and implemented following 
approval at Council in February.

Page 93



To date Member Required Training has been undertaken across the organisation that included 
the Code of Conduct, Member/Officer protocol training, Audit, Standards and Licensing. Training 
for committee members in Planning is undertaken for all new members as part of their induction. 

Following the implementation of the Children’s safeguarding policy across the organisation 
members were invited to attend various training events, to date 25 members have untaken the 
Children Safeguarding training. Officers will soon commence work on implementing an Adults 
Safeguarding policy of which members will again be invited to attend a training session. 

A member Customer Connect briefing session was held on 12 October 2017 and on 27 February 
2018 for all members to attend to gain an insight and further understanding of the programme 
moving forward. The sessions have proved popular with members who will be kept updated as 
the project moves forward.

Page 94



South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018
EXECUTIVE REPORT – END OF YEAR UPDATE 

2017/18

REPORT FROM: Cllr Matt Severn – Culture, Media and Leisure Portfolio 
Holder

Portfolio Responsibilities

The Council Plan objectives in relation to promoting culture, leisure activities and the arts. 

To work with our cultural organisations to attract investment and to promote South Lakeland as a 
premier area for Arts and Events. 

The relationship of the Council with its citizens; civic participation and the Council plan objectives 
around leisure, health and wellbeing and working with communities. 

Working with key partners with regards to public health and community safety. 

Promoting South Lakeland in and through the media. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies: 

 Arts and Events 
 Grants Strategy 
 Licensing and Statement of Gambling Policies 
 Communications Strategy 

Key Areas: 
 Arts and Culture 
 Grants 
 Public Halls 
 Use of community assets for promotion of arts and culture
 Young people/ projects 
 Heritage and Events 
 Heritage Listed buildings and built environment 
 Voluntary Sector Engagement in relation to culture and leisure
 Leisure and Recreation 
 Licensing and Gambling 
 Media and Communications 

Page 95



Arts and Culture 
Throughout 2017/18 the Council has continued to work in partnership with key Cultural Strategic 
partners to encourage and promote cultural arts and events throughout the District. The Councils 
sustained approach to cultural investments has continued to enrich communities and boost the 
economy. 

We have continued working in partnership with Arts Council England and cultural organisations 
to help facilitate, enable and fund some significant initiatives over the year to promote South 
Lakeland as the premier rural area for arts events and festivals and worked to support the Lake 
District National Park ‘Cultural Landscapes’ World Heritage designation. 

Key cultural events that the Council has supported throughout 2017/18 have included the Lakes 
Comic Art Festival where more than 70 special guests from around the world took part. The 
Council also worked with Lakes International Art Festival to support their development and 
collaborative venture with the Maison de La Culture and ‘On a Marche sur la Bulle’ in Amiens for 
a unique project ‘Traces of the Great War’. This will take place in October 2018 in Amiens (France) 
and Kendal as part of the national commermorative centenary programme making the end of 
World War One. 

The Council continued its support for Kendal Mountain Festival. The 2017 festival was the biggest 
to date which included a new Mountain Literature Festival.

The Councils has advocated and supported the major capital infrastructure developments of the 
Wordsworth Trust ‘Reimagining Wordsworth’ and Lakeland Arts Windermere Jetty to facilitate 
major investment and development in these key institutions. Also worked with the Cumbria LEP 
to promote the creative and cultural industries and ‘Great Place’ within the Rural and Visitor 
Economy strategy.

‘Great Place’
The 3 year pilot ‘Great Place Lakes and Dales’ programme, led by Craven District Council in 
partnership with SLDC, Yorkshire Dales and Lake District national park authorities was 
successfully launched in September 2017 at the Heaton Cooper Studio involving the Roundabout 
Theatre in Grasmere.

Over the lifetime of the project partners aim to deliver the programme where a sustainable, 
resilient creative community and economy exists celebrating the distinctiveness of place, the skill 
and experience of creative people and a good quality of life, which in turn will retain and attract 
younger people to our districts to influence, support and create our future economy.

This programme is one of only 16 ‘Great Places’ in England and one of 4 rural nationally covering 
the area from Grasmere and the Central Lakes to Kendal and through the southern Yorkshire 
Dales 3 Peaks area to Skipton.

Grants 
The Council has continued to support our district’s key Strategic Cultural partners; the Kendal 
Brewery Arts Centre Trust, Lakeland Arts, Wordsworth Trust, Grizedale Arts, Ruskin Museum, 
Highlights Productions and Lake District Summer Music, With the Council’s support these 
organisations continue to deliver a cultural programme that is widely recognised throughout and 

Page 96



beyond the district as being high quality and exceptional offers for any rural district in the country 
and continues to contribute significantly to the district’s cultural, economic, and social well-being.

In 2017 the Brewery Arts, Lakeland Arts, Wordsworth Trust and Grizedale Arts were all successful 
in gaining National Portfolio Organisation status from Arts Council England commencing 2018.  

Lakes Culture successfully secured phase 2 funding for the ‘Cultural Destinations’ programme. 
The Council continued its support as a consortium partner in Lakes Culture working with LDNP, 
Cumbria Tourism, National Trust, Forestry Commission and cultural organisations on a 
programme of  work to embed culture at the heart of the tourism offer in South Lakeland and to 
facilitate greater promotion of the region as a cultural destination attracting more, new cultural 
visitors to the area and making best use of the positive impact of the UNESCO World Heritage 
Site and building on the success of the existing Lakes Ignite Festival.

Public Halls and Use of Community Assets for Promotion of Arts and Culture 
2017/18 has been a successful year for events at Kendal Town Hall, with major events such as 
Comic Arts, Kendal Mountain and Film Festival taking place. 

The hall remains booked for future events throughout 2018/19 including:
 the Gin Fayre
 John Denver tribute evening
 Kendal and District Amateur Gilbert and Sullivan Society will  be performing the Mikado
 Sprit of Kendal event by Kendal Bid 

To date there has been 48 confirmed wedding ceremony bookings, and out of the 48 confirmed 
bookings, 32 ceremonies have taken place. 

Heritage and Events  
In October 2017 Historic England added the conservation area at Burton in Kendal to their 
Heritage at Risk register due to the loss of architectural features and the deterioration of building 
fabric and the public realm. The Council has made an application to Historic England for 
partnership funding to help restore and transform the conservation area and Cabinet has pledged 
£105k over three years towards this project, which would also involve the parish council. This 
application to HE has been successful and the Council will prepare a detailed delivery plan for 
submission in late April 2018, so that a three year project can commence in summer 2018. This 
will target conservation funds at 13 key buildings and seek to enhance the public realm of The 
Square in the centre of the settlement.

Young People and Projects
11 – 16 year olds 

SLDC are currently expanding the number of schools that we work with, we have recently made 
connections with Cartmel Priory C of E. The school council has given a presentation to schools 
regarding recycling in schools and will lead in providing students with new recycling bins.

17 – 25 year olds 

As highlighted in previous reports the group identified transport as an issue across the district 
which has been taken forward as an issue to Cumbria County Councils Children and Young 

Page 97



People’s Working Group. SLDC will be included in this meeting in the future and have the 
opportunity to present projects and updates, a meeting date is yet to be confirmed. 

This issues has also been raised with the Community Rail Partnership that work directly with 
Northern Rail. The Community Rail Partnership have invited young people to attend meetings 
and work with them to give Northern Rail feedback on how they could improve the service. 

Northern Rail have agreed to expand a scheme to give 20% discounts to students travelling at 
peak time.

NCS – National Citizen Service

NCS activities were held on various dates throughout the summer of 2017. 

Each day was organised into three parts; an overview of the national and local democratic and 
political system, small group meetings with officers from various departments of the council, and 
a debate based on real party manifestos. 

SLDC was invited to take part in the graduation ceremony on 14 October in Rheghed, where over 
1,000 students attended from across the North West and SLDC. 

As a result of the activities and the attendance of the graduation there has been discussions with 
one of the Directors of Inspira based around better partnership working, expanding volunteering 
opportunities for young people, and the potential for a local graduation ceremony.

The young people’s action plan is currently under review and will be updated later in 2018.

Leisure and Recreation 
GLL have developed a new partnership with ‘Wings School’ which will generate an additional 
income at Windermere Outdoor Adventure Centre. Thorough this partnership, weekly sailing 
sessions have been organised throughout the year.

Both Kendal and Ulverston Leisure Centre hit health and fitness sales targets in Oct, Nov and 
December. 

There has been a programme of extensive refurbishment at Kendal Leisure Centre which has led 
to refurbishment of changing rooms, reception and fitness suite. This is nearing completion and 
has already resulted in great customer feedback.  

GLL have been instrumental in introducing paddle boards to Windermere Outdoor Adventure 
Centre offering more opportunities for people to get onto the lake.

Kendal Leisure Centre has hosted some large local events attracting in excess of 15,000 people 
to the centre.  Events such as Kendal Wool Gathering, Kendal Mountain Festival and Torchlight 
Carnival, brought in over £9k in additional income as well as helping to show off facilities. 

Fourteen new studio cycles have been introduced at Kendal Leisure Centre. 

Ulverston High School went to Lords cricket ground to compete in the annual table cricket 
competition.  With the support of the GLL Communities’ team.  The team came a national second 
place.

Page 98



Kendal International Comic Art Festival is now in its 5th year.  Kendal communities’ team were 
heavily involved in supporting the comic art window trail throughout the town. 
 
Children in Need events were organised at both Kendal and Ulverston Leisure Centres.  This 
provided a lot of fun for customers whilst raising over £500

Ulverston organised a 6 week come and try it gymnastics event in October.  All sessions sold out 
with many of the participants taking up places on our regular gymnastics sessions.

South Lakeland communities’ team continue to be very much involved in support health related 
activities across the partnership.  GLL venues now host; MIND, and Dementia Hubs whilst 
continuing to influence local health strategic planning.

South Lakeland Council continues to fund the South Lakeland ‘CLUB’ activities session with 
participation in excess of 3000.  Our biggest success has been the introduction of CLUB sailing 
session which are all at capacity. 

Ulverston organised a memorial triathlon event supporting a local persons family who tragically 
passed away suddenly. 
The team entered into the South Lakeland ‘Torchlight Carnival’ parade promoting GLL and the 
facilities we provide: 

 £450k of investment nearing completion at Kendal LC
 Older peoples ‘CLUB’ sailing sessions 
 New branding Inside and out at Kendal Leisure Centre
 Ulverston High School table cricket champions 
 New Paddle Boards at Windermere 
 Kendal Wool Gathering event

Licening and Gambling 

Throughout 2017/18 the Licensing service has reviewed the Taxi policy and rolled out the revised 
policy to all drivers and officers.

The Licensing Committee agreed to published an awareness leaflet for taxi drivers. This was 
developed with the other Cumbrian authorities and is being used throughout the county to educate 
drivers on the signs of child sexual exploitation.  In 2018/19 the Licensing Committee will be 
considering making training in this area mandatory.  As part of this work, all officers attended 
safeguarding training and considered actions they can take during the course of their work.

Toward the end of the year, the Licensing service contacted partners/stakeholders as part of the 
consultation process to review the Council’s statement of gambling policy.  The reviewed policy 
is due to be considered by Council in July 2018. 

The team have been working with Cumbria Constabulary to develop the multi-agency hub, which 
will be based at Kendal police station.

During the year 2017/18 Council policy on Sexual Entertainment Venues was reviewed and 
published.

Page 99



Media and Communications 
The Council’s communications team has continued to keep residents and other stakeholders fully 
informed about what the council does in a way which supports Council Plan priorities and builds 
local pride.

The Council has continued to deliver messages using all available channels including 
newspapers, TV, radio, websites, social media, and other digital platforms. The Communications 
operation is merged with Customer Services to provide a consistent joined-up approach to how 
we interact with the public.

SLDC is already maximising the use of digital channels to enable the council to target 
communications much more effectively.

Our social media channels have continued to grow and the Council’s Twitter account this year 
has averaged 90,000 impressions per month, up from an average 29,000 impressions in 2014.

We proactively engage with local newsletters, magazines and other community platforms and 
organisations as well as forging strong relationships with traditional media to communicate items 
of local interest for residents, while our increased use of social media has made it easier for SLDC 
to share campaigns and messages from our partners, something that is particularly valuable 
around breaking incidents such as flooding.

The recent Quality of Life survey highlighted the importance of our quarterly South Lakeland News 
publication, now expanded from 16 pages in 2014 to a regular 24 pages this year, which was 
rated by 59% of people as the most popular way to receive information about the Council’s 
activities.

SLDC have also continued to communicate internal messages to staff via Sharepoint, internal 
staff newsletters and face-to-face, particularly around areas of Customer Connect, and have 
provided updates and briefing notes on key issues for members.

Page 100



South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018

EXECUTIVE REPORT – END OF YEAR 2017/18

REPORT FROM: Cllr Graham Vincent – Economy and Assets Portfolio 
Holder

Portfolio Responsibilities

The Council Plan objectives as they relate to the Portfolio area of work, and cross cutting work 
developed through the Local Plan and Economic Development Strategy. 

Working in partnership to ensure a thriving and prosperous District within the context of the wider 
sub-region, through effective economic development, regeneration and transport strategies. 

Working in partnership to ensure thriving and prosperous town centres throughout the district. 

Providing public realm infrastructure to promote the local economy. 

Promoting small businesses in both towns and rural areas. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies: 

 Economic Development Strategy 
 Asset Management Strategy 

Key Areas: 

 Economic Inward Investment 
 Business Support and Sector Development 
 Visitor Economy 
 Town Centre Planning, Car Parks and Transportation 
 Markets
 Asset Management 

Page 101



Portfolio Holder Foreward 
The broad based economy of South Lakeland is performing well. Tourism and specialist 
manufacturing are performing very well.  Although the national picture for retailers is very mixed, 
South Lakeland shops especially the Multi-nationals are reporting strong sales.

Economic Inward Investment 
Throughout 2017/18 the Economic Development team have been working with a number of 
businesses that wanted to grow, and require larger premises. To date most of the preparatory 
work has been undertaken to hopefully see progress on some of the key employment allocations 
moving forward.

The Herdy Company have now re-located within Kendal. Their new premises comprise a ground 
floor retail section, and on the first floor, administration, design, sales and export departments in 
a very modern lay out.

The office development of AUK Ltd at Prizet Services will house the Head Quarters of the 
company, bringing new jobs into South Lakeland. 

The new regional dealership for John Deere Tractors became operational at Junction 36, 
Crooklands in December 2017, bringing thirty new jobs into the area.

These successes demonstrate that a business focussed South Lakeland is becoming the area of 
choice for businesses to locate and grow.

The Invest in South Lakeland website is currently being rebuilt. This new outward facing service 
will have a sharper focus on informing the investor as well as capturing much more detailed 
information about those engaging with it, allowing better engagement with potential investors.

SLDC are continuing to workwith our partners in Barrow and Lancaster strengthening the positon 
of our area for investment with the creation of a prospectus of opportunity and other activity in line 
with the recently signed ‘ Joint statement of intent’ to collaborate on economic development 
initiatives.

Kendal Nutricare has also secured a large order for the China market for its innovative healthy 
baby food ‘Kendamill’.  Securing this order will enable a further 25 jobs to be created at the Kendal 
site.

Business Support, Sector Development and Visitor Economy 
The Grant Funding Agreement Contract with the Chamber of Commerce continues to deliver 
above the minimum outputs within the agreement and has so far offered support to over 50 
businesses over the last 18 months through their business start-up support scheme and Cumbria 
Growth Hub scheme.  

The ED team relaunched the business forum in September 2017 and these will now be held 3 
times a year as a way of engaging with our strategic employers.  The first forum was attended by 
over 20 businesses.

A very successful sustainable energy conference was held in Kendal Town Hall and organised 
by Community Action For Susutainability (CAFS) .The event was opened by Ellergreen’s CEO 

Page 102



Mark Cropper; other presenters were from Electricity NW, Quantum Strategy, and a speaker for 
Tesla Europe talking about battery storage.

Visitor Economy 

A new business-led board for Bowness and Windermere Forward has been established, and a 
programme manager to support the Chairman, funded by SLDC (for 12 months at a fixed amount), 
was appointed in January 2018. It is expected that the Board will be self-supporting in 12 months’ 
time and will have delivered some early projects.

Public realm works on SLDC land on the Glebe shore front, delivered with the County Council, 
have now been completed with a £500k investment by the District Council. This has transformed 
the area around the Glebe and put in place the infrastructure needed to support a world class 
visitor destination.

The economic development team have been leading the application into the European Regional 
Development Fund (ERDF) for over £4.5m of additional monies to support flood defence works 
to protect businesses on the Mintsfeet Industrial Estate, the outcome of which will be known in 
the Summer of 2018.

Car Parks
The past 12 months have seen a number of developments and challenges within the Parking 
Service. 

The cash collection which was previously operated from Langston House, Windermere has now 
moved to a purpose built office in Kendal. This has allowed changes to the existing collection 
arrangements making them more focused and efficient. 

A number of parking incentives have also been trialed . These incentives included a number of 
longer opening trials, an ‘early bird’ offer at Blackhall Road and the existing early bird offer at the 
Westmorland Shopping Centre in Kendal being reduced further in price. Except for the longer 
opening hours, the offers have been well received by users and whilst income at the offer sites 
has fallen, the overall parking account has seen growth in terms of ticket sales and income across 
the combined parking sites. A trial of an early bird offer is also planned for   a car park  in 
Windermere and Grange over sands commencing on the 1st April. . 

In July 2017 the Parking Department won the ‘Concise Report’ category at the Annual Patrol 
(Parking Authorities Outside of London) Awards. The judging panel commented that the “report 
reads as an interesting account of a Council that views parking controls as a way of helping 
communities and as part of the areas economic development.  The judges also commented in 
positive terms about the way that the Council adapted the existing tariffs to reflect the individual 
circumstances experienced as a result of Storm Desmond especially in the area of Grasmere. 

Looking forward in to 2018/19 the Department is developing new parking offers in Kendal and 
working with partners to secure public parking at the Kendal Snow Sports Club site and also to 
return 100% of all monies collected (after costs) to the Club to allow them to develop further.  
Consideration is also being given to how this model could be developed at other sites in the 
District.

Additionally a location for a new Car Park has been identified within Kendal, off Parkside road on 
land owned by the District Council and plans are already advanced to secure the development 

Page 103



and planning permission is being sought. It is hoped that this car park facility will be open to users 
in late summer 2018.

A District Wide Strategic review of all the parking assets is also planned for 2018/19 and this will 
include consideration of other parking sites that may become available during the coming years 
and how these can be best serviced to increase the parking offer within the District.

Markets 
The markets (indoor and outdoor) have traditionally been at the heart of the retail offering of 
Kendal town centre which has much to be proud of in terms of the mix of retail units, with many 
unique independent, locally owned and operated shops, and as such has a feel which is distinct 
from many towns where national brands dominate the high street. There is evidence that in some 
locations, the demand for and attraction of, out-of-town shopping centres is cooling, and the 
‘leisure seeking shopper’ is being drawn back to traditional town centres that offer attractive mixed 
leisure and retail, within a built environment that includes attractive older centres. This blend of 
old and new, within regenerated centres is providing opportunities to dwell longer with visitors 
being attracted by the destination and overall experience. 

Alongside our property service providers, we are continuing to look at critical success factors or 
other popular markets within the North West in order to learn from them to improve the offer and, 
in turn, rejuvenate the market. 

South Lakeland District Council continues to see the markets as an important and integral part of 
Kendal Town Centre and the work currently being undertaken is to help turn the market into a 
popular visitor destination.  

Asset Management 
The proposed asset review is in the process of being completed and a strong working relationship 
is being formed between the new property service provider, the legal and asset management 
department. As part of the review, detailed work is ongoing around South Lakeland House, Kendal 
and Ulverston Depot and some of our key car parking sites. The work on the property asset review 
will look to link in with our Economic priority  and we will when opportunities present themselves 
make best use of our property portfolio to support economic growth, through the use of our current 
and future asset base.

Page 104



South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018

EXECUTIVE REPORT – END OF YEAR UPDATE 
2017/18

REPORT FROM: Cllr David Fletcher – Environment Portfolio Holder

Portfolio Responsibilities

To take the lead on Waste Management/Recycling and relevant Council Plan measures under 
the environment objectives. 

Providing and maintaining parks infrastructure.

To develop and implement a Playground Strategy. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies:
 Waste Management Strategy 
 Air Quality Strategy and Action Plan 

Key Areas: 
 Waste Management and Recycling 
 Streetscene 
 Community Micro energy Schemes 
 Carbon/ Greenhouse gas reduction 
 Green agenda – Low Carbon reduction 
 Public Realm (Parks and open spaces) 

Page 105



Waste Management and Recycling 
The Council will continue to expand cardboard and plastic collections and promote kerbside 
recycling services across South Lakeland. During February 2018 plastic and cardboard 
collections have been provided to all households where it is possible to provide a recycling 
collection service. There remain a small number of households in areas where weekly bagged 
waste collections are provided due to lack of space of extremely hard-to-access places that will 
not be able to receive the service.

The service is procuring 2 x 12 tonne Refuse Collection Vehicles and 6 x 26 tonne Refuse 
Collections to replace vehicles that are due for replacement under the Vehicle & Plant 
Programme.

SLDC will consider the introduction of further materials in addition to cardboard and plastic. During 
March 2018 the service will be working with the Salvation Army to provide a one-off textile 
collection service in Staveley on a trial basis as part of the Staveley Waste Less Project.

Zurich Insurance conducted a Motor Vehicle Review and identified several recommendations to 
reduce the number of high-risk reversing manoeuvres that have now been adopted. Domestic 
properties that require a high-risk reversing manoeuvre are being contacted individually with 
guidance regarding a change of collection point or request to maintain an un-obstructed access 
route on the collection day. This review is on target for completion by Easter 2018. Any new risks 
identified will be addressed on an on-going basis.

A new Bring Site Collections contract has been procured and will start from 1 April 2018. 

A new Bulky Waste Collections contract has been procured and will start from 1 April 2018.

A tender and procurement process is underway for the disposal contract for recyclables collected 
in the Ulverston area. The tender opportunity has been advertised and it is expected that a new 
contract will commence in 2018.

Street Scene 
The service has procured new street sweeping vehicles to replace vehicles on leases that have 
now expired. These are due for delivery in early 2018.

The extended trial of technology to improve the efficiency of litter bin emptying operations 
continues. Sensors have been installed in 104 litter bins that collate information to determine the 
rate at which a bin fills and when emptying will be required. Parish Councils with litter bins in the 
trial area have been invited to participate in the trial from April 2018. Early indications are that the 
trial is already resulting in a reduction of approximately 80 bin liners per day.

Green Agenda – Low Carbon Reduction 
Throuhgout 2017/18 SLDC has continued supporting the Cumbria Cycling Strategy and 
involvement in the Cumbria Cycling Partnership. The Partnership is working on a delivery plan 
with actions under the four headings of: improving cycling infrastructure, cycling for a healthy 
lifestyle, supporting the Cumbria economy and promoting Cumbria as the best place to cycle. 
SLDC would like to see benefits for South Lakeland’s residents through an emphasis on actions 
which will promote and enable cycling as part of a realistic active travel option for residents.

Page 106



SLDC has been in communication with Cumbria County Council regarding the potential for the 
Tour of Britain to come to the district in 2018, although plans remain in the early stages. 

Development Management Policies have been updated with an active travel focus. They have 
been published for consultation. These have now been adopted, they will be used to help guide 
planning application decisions.

Carbon Greenhouse Gas Reduction 
SLDC has supported the Community Action for Sustainability (CAFs) to achieve their Low 
Carbon Programme for 2017/18. Over the past year CAF’s have undertaken the following 
projects with SLDC’s support:

 Energy efficiency and low carbon energy systems in complex buildings (e.g. grade 2 
listed Kendal Unitarian Chapel)

 Assessing options and potential for community renewable energy sysetms (e.g. support 
for Lindale Beck hydro feasibility study and  RCEF application for micro hydro scheme; 
Sandgate Hydrotherapy Pool roof survey for suitability of photovoltaic panels)

 Advice on retrofitting low carbon energy systems (e.g. Lowick Community Hall, advice 
on best air source heat pump and applying for Renewable Heat Incentive)

 Whole site approach to low carbon energy (e.g. advice to Homes For Ulverston)

The group has also delivered a number of Energy Events, some of which included: 

 ‘Low Carbon’ open home events for the public, community representatives and 
businesses

 Community Energy Champion/Frontline Worker Training (i.e. at least 20 volunteers/paid 
frontline staff with greater confidence and competency on energy matters)

 Two days of level 4 course training on energy reduction, renwable energy and 
sustainable refurbishment 

 Research into the barriers, motivations, needs of individuals, business and community 
groups in SL in respect of energy information and consequent pathways to action

Public Realm (Parks and Open Spaces)
The tender process for improvements at Nobles Rest has been completed, permissions obtained 
from Cumbria County Council and the preferred contractor appointed, Prescott Special Projects. 
Selective tree pruning and felling has been carried out on Swine Parrock. The park was closed 
on February 5th for up to eighteen weeks to allow for the path and drainage works to take place, 
with the works expected to be completed in June 2018. The parks and open spaces team have 
worked with The Friends of Nobles Rest Group on the tender process and are currently looking 
at further grant funding opportunities.

A landscape architect based in Windermere has now been appointed to complete the Millerground 
Enhancement Plan. Detailed designs for the footpath are now in the tender stage. In late 
November 2017 the priorities of the Millerground Enhancement Group changed and the 
landscape architect’s brief changed to include more paths and a children’s playground. Due to 
this change it is likely the project will be tendered in summer 2018 and works on site will start in 
October 2018. The Millerground Enhancement Group is also continuing to raise funding for the 
playground.

Page 107



Following a formal opening with the community on 30 July 2017, the Rinkfield playground has 
now been installed. 

The Parks and Open Spaces team also led a consultation over the summer (2017) for a new play 
area at Abbot Hall which received over 200 responses.  A community group has now been 
constituted with a bank account. The project total is close to being raised and the team hope to 
have a new playground installed by autumn.

Gym equipment has also recently been installed in Broadgate Meadow, Grasmere through Locally 
Important Project funding (LIPs) which was awarded to Grasmere Village Society for 
improvements on the park. A fundraising campaign will start at Easter 2018 to raise money for a 
new playground. In total the team have worked with twelve community groups across the district 
to help prepare their LIPs applications.

Consultation events and an online questionnaire has recently been carried out for the four play 
areas in the Kendal Parks estate. Two of the playground developments have gone out to tender 
at the end of February 2018. A community group has been established for the third.

The Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) consultation was completed in October 2017. The 
consultation process included social media, websites, emails, an online survey and onsite 
consultation days at various locations. The results of the consultation informed a report that was 
submitted for Cabinet on 13th December 2017. The report recommended that Cabinet approved 
the introduction of a PSPO for the control of dogs in public open spaces and parks across the 
district. 

The Friends of Lightburn Park successfully gained funding from WREN to install a MUGA on a 
disused tennis court in the park. Tenders were received at the end of January, a preferred 
contractor has been selected and it is anticipated that the MUGA will be in place by the end of 
May 2018.

The first year of the grounds maintenance partnership with Continental Landscapes Ltd has been 
completed. SLDC and Continental Landscapes are working in partnership to deliver a quality 
grounds maintenance service and support to community groups.

Page 108



South Lakeland District Council
Council

28 March 2018

EXECUTIVE REPORT – END OF YEAR 2017/18

REPORT FROM: Cllr Philip Dixon – Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio 
Holder

Portfolio Responsibilities

To work with other tiers of government, community groups and other relevant partners to 
enhance the health and wellbeing of residents. 

Alleviate the harmful effects of poverty in the District, looking at issues to address those 
disadvantaged. 

Working with key partners with regards to welfare reforms. 

Nominated representative on Health and Wellbeing board as appropriate. 

To drive our Localism agenda.  

Policies, Plans and Strategies:

 Community Strategy 
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 Public Health 
 Community Safety Strategy 

Key areas 

 Corporate Health and Safety 
 Localism 
 Devolution 
 Community Development
 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy
 Public Health 
 Poverty 
 Voluntary sector engagement in the public health and wellbeing sector

Page 109



Corporate Health and Safety 
Following the launch of the new Health and Safety policy, the staff survey was issued and Health 
and Safety message received a positive response. From the strategic improvement plan, 
corporate metrics are being met by the departments/services. SLDC have requested that our 
property service provider LSH issue a Landlord Compliance Audit to check if significant risks such 
as fire, legionella and asbestos are being managed effectively. 

Overall, the Council is making good progress in line with its Improvement Plan, examples of this 
include contractor engagement sessions external contractors to set out the Council’s expectations 
and procedures to ensure we reach for the very best standards and all staff will receive IOSH 
Working Safely training within 6 months of their employment start date.

Devolution 
There have been no further updates regarding devolution since the recent mid year portfolio 
holder report presented at Council on 15th December 2017.

Community Development and Localism
Throughout 2017/18 SLDC have continued to assist communities through the Local Area 
Partnership Groups by building relationships with LAP chairs and others to ensure LAP’s remain 
relevant, useful, effective and add value to parishes and SLDC.

The issues that have been addressed across the various LAP groups include Community Led 
Plans, grant funding, highways, safety and affordable housing.

The sixth round of Locally Important Project Grants closed in December 2017. All the successful 
applications are currently undergoing to Delegated Executive Decision (DED) Stage. 

Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy (South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership) 
The Community Safety Partnership has aimed to reduce crime and enable local communities to 
remain safe and reassured, without fear or threat of crime throughout the past year. This was 
achieved by identifying priorities (related to crime figures and trends, and the Police and Crime 
Plan) for its annual Partnership Plan. Sub-groups were convened to develop projects and actions.

The CSP’s two main agreed priority areas for 2017/18 were Alcohol and violent crime/ sexual 
offences and online child sexual exploitation and staying safe. 

Through funding for 2017/18 the following projects have been undertaken: 

Applied Theatre in Cumbria: SLDC, in conjunction with partners including the Arts Council/ 
Curious Minds, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), Cumbria County Council, 
and Barrow Borough Council, raised £150,000 to commission the Brewery Arts Centre to write 
and perform plays in 10 schools in South Cumbria. These professional productions, with a 
national award winning playwright, will focus on community safety and health and wellbeing. This 
2 year project has mental health as the topic for year 1 and complementing the performances will 
be workshops by specialist providers enabling students to explore issues raised. 

Tackling rural crime: 2,000 “Avoiding Fraud” booklets and 1,500 handbooks on fire safety, health 
and crime prevention have been distributed to homes and farms in South Cumbria, targeted 
especially at elderly or isolated residents. £500 was awarded to Neighbourhood Watch to provide 

Page 110



cost effective property marking kits to farmers to: reduce the number of thefts of farming 
property/equipment, increase the numbers of farmers using Cumbria Community Messaging and 
improve confidence and partnership working arrangements between farmers and Police.

Online fraud: Stay safe online: In conjunction with the OPCC office South Cumbria CSP has 
delivered 6 sessions on avoiding online crime   for the general public (97 attendees in Kendal and 
Barrow). This 3 year programme is currently being run in the South by SLDC Partnerships team.

A campaign to educate the public on cross County drug lines to empower them to report drug 
dealing activities and exploitation anonymously. This project also received community intelligence 
on those who are travelling from urban areas outside Cumbria to set up drug networks, raise 
awareness of the issue with professionals throughout South Lakeland, make the public and 
criminals aware in urban areas that proactive activities are taking place to detect and disrupt their 
activities, make vulnerable children and adults aware that they are being targeted by criminals 
and to give them or their friends an anonymous way of reporting.

Early intervention problem solving training was funded for Multi agency partners. This training will 
go towards the setting up of community safety hubs in Kendal and Barrow. 

£4000 to Cumbria Alcohol and Drug Addiction Service (CADAS) was used to contribute to the 
reduction of alcohol related crime, CSE and hospital admissions in South Cumbria by: 

 Education workshops for young people and CPD sessions for professionals working with 
children and young people in generic and specific drug and alcohol topics as well as risk 
taking behaviour

 Quarterly newsletters for schools that highlight the support professionals and families can 
access from CADAS as well as capacity building ideas (such as curriculum tools for 
schools) and our support for families of substance abusers

 Access to our Supporting Teenagers At Risk (STARs) service for identified, vulnerable 
young people who require in-depth, longer term intervention to manage both their 
substance use and change their behaviours that may lead to substance use.

Public Health 
SLDC representatives have attended the Health and Wellbeing Forum and Public Health Alliance 
to promote public health improvement initiatives across the district throughout 2017/18. 

SLDC will continue to develop a Joint Public Health Strategy for Cumbria with Cumbria County 
Council. 

SLDC and other Cumbrian Authorities are planning to undertake smoke free localities projects 
across the district as well as the Healthy Weight Declaration Initiative. This initiative is in early 
draft stage but would involve Cumbria signing up to a Healthy Weight Declaration and promoting 
key themes across the county. In the current draft the key themes are identified as: 

1. Healthy Environment 
2. Healthy Workplaces (Better Health at Work Scheme)
3. Tackling Health Inequalities
4. Children [0-5]
5. Children and Families [0-19]
6. Adult healthy weight

Page 111



The Public Health Alliance are launching Refill Initiative. This initiative aims to reduce plastic 
waste and offer opportunities to refill water bottles throughout the district. SLDC Officers have 
met interally to discuss taking this iniative forward. The iniative will encourage local businesses 
to display a sticker in their window that says they are happy to refill water bottles free of charge. 
Further info available at: https://www.refill.org.uk/ 

Poverty (Building Financial Resilience) 
Within 2017/18 SLDC have coordinated the Building Financial Resilience partnership group 
involving key partners such as Cumbria County Council, Age UK, South Lakes Housing, Credit 
Union and Citizen’s Advice. Since the last partner meeting officers have been meeting individually 
with the key partners and other relevant groups to understand better the range of issues relating 
to poverty they are witnessing in the area. 

Officers have worked in collaboration with the partners during these meetings to come up with a 
range of potential actions and baseline data that could be used to measure success. The focus 
has been on small actions that will make a real difference for the partners and enable them to be 
more effective in their work in preventing people falling into poverty.  The intention is to develop 
a draft action plan to be presented at the full partner meeting for input and agreement Officers 
have also met with the charity ‘Fare Share’ and invited them to attend the next partner meeting 
as there was much interest in them during the last meeting. This will give interested partners the 
opportunity to find out more and become involved in the potential roll out of this scheme in South 
Lakeland.

Page 112

https://www.refill.org.uk/

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes
	 Appendix to Minutes

	6 South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018/19 (Budget and Policy Framework Decision)
	South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership Plan 2018-19 - Appendix 1

	7 Request by Allithwaite Upper Parish Council to Change the Parish Name to Lindale and Newton in Cartmel Parish
	Request by Allithwaite Upper Parish Council to Change Parish Name - Appendix 1

	8 Temporary Appointment to Broughton East Parish Council
	Temporary Appointment to Broughton East Parish Council - Appendix 1

	9 Annual Review of the Call-in and Urgency Provisions
	10 Annual Review of the Constitution
	Annual Review of the Constitution 2018 - Appendix 1
	Annual Review of the Constitution 2018 - Appendix 1 Annex 1
	Annual Review of the Constitution 2018 - Appendix 2
	5.1 It is good practice to regularly review the Constitution to ensure a proper balance between operational efficiency and strong internal controls.

	Annual Review of the Constitution 2018 - Appendix 3
	General Public Participation Scheme

	Annual Review of the Constitution 2018 - Appendix 4
	Annual Review of the Constitution 2018 - Appendix 5
	Petitions Scheme


	11 Composite Report of the Cabinet
	Portfolio Holder Report - Housing and Innovation
	Portfolio Holder Report - Council Organisation and People
	Portfolio Holder Report - Culture Media and Leisure
	Portfolio Holder Report - Economy and Assets
	Portfolio Holder Report - Environment
	Portfolio Holder Report - Public Health and Wellbeing


